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I write this introduction in what continues to be the most 
extraordinary times. Although lockdown only took effect 
in the last month of the financial year, it is impossible to 
introduce this report and accounts without commenting 
on the impact of Covid-19, and the devastating incident 
at our Watts Grove construction site in July 2020, when a 
crane collapsed tragically killing a local resident and 
injuring two crane operatives.

We are deeply saddened by this incident and have 
extended our deepest condolences to the family of the 
deceased resident. We recognise it continues to have a 
significant impact on the local community, with many 
residents unable to return to their homes until the crane 
is removed and the area made safe. We are working with 
London Borough of Tower Hamlets, Gateway Housing 
and other stakeholders to support the wider response.  
On behalf of everyone at Swan, I repeat we are fully 
committed, at every level of our organisation, to 
responding to this incident in a compassionate, 
professional and timely way, whilst giving our full 
assistance to the investigating authorities.

Like the rest of the nation, we have had to respond to an 
unprecedented Covid-19 crisis and as a Board we are 
pleased with the approach the organisation has taken.  

Chair’s Introduction

Putting our staff and residents first, we have worked hard 
to ensure everyone’s safety and reached out to those 
residents who needed it. This additional support has 
continued throughout the lockdown period. From a 
business perspective, we’ve been tested to an 
extraordinary degree, but our internal controls and plans 
have withstood that test and we have maintained good 
levels of customer service and business continuity 
throughout. 

We of course looked at our business plan and stress 
tested the impact of Covid-19.  We worked with our staff 
to identify over £5m of discretionary spend for 2020/21 
which was placed on hold and we increased our Welfare 
Benefit and Income Team’s support for residents to 
ensure that they can continue to pay their rent in their 
new post Covid-19 circumstances – helping them protect 
their home and supporting our income. 

We paused our regeneration activity whilst we developed 
safe working arrangements and used this opportunity to 
review all our developments and, where necessary, 
re-programme them to respond to the wider situation. 

We continue to work towards securing a return to a G1 
governance rating following the outcome of our 
Regulatory Judgement in early 2020.  As a Board we are 
committed to ensuring Swan continues to be fit for the 
future.  We are currently working on our new Corporate 
Strategy which will be rolled out in 2020/21. 

In 2019/20 we continued to transform communities 
delivering over 700 new homes including more than 300 
affordable and social homes. We handed over The 
Paragon in Ilford, Phase 1B of Blackwall Reach and 360 
Barking. We also saw the first residents occupy our new 
precision engineered modular homes at Beechwood 
Village and our factory continues to increase its 
production of 
high-quality modular homes. We were delighted to be 
recognised as Housebuilder of the Year by Construction 
Week UK and as the Most Innovative Developer at the 
Building Innovation Awards.  
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However, just as important to us was the recognition of 
our exemplary end of life care services at the Essex 
Care awards and our top Care Quality Commission 
rating for our service. Services which we support 
financially through the proceeds of our commercial 
activity.  As part of this social purpose activity, we’ve also 
completed 72 life changing projects this year through our 
Resident Involvement and Community Development 
team. 

We have continued to invest in our services for our 
customers and have made significant progress with our 
new approach for  'onboarding' new tenants and with the 
handling of complaints. We’ve invested £5.8m in capital 
works to improve the quality of our homes, which all 
continue to meet decent home standards. We’ve 
launched a review of our Customer Experience to ensure 
that we are a customer centred organisation.  This will 
help us to continue to improve our customer satisfaction 
in key areas in 2020/21 including with repairs.  Our work 
on our new CX system and customer portal has ensured 
this is ready to roll out in early 2020/21. 

We are delighted to have achieved IIP Gold status and to 
have again been recognised as one of the Top 100 Best 
Not for Profit companies to work for in the UK by the 
Sunday Times Best Companies Awards – this year 
ranking as a top 5 Housing Association. Our work on our 
Transformation programme has ensured that our people 
had the technology to work remotely and we will be 
continuing with our agile working project through our 
Covid-19 response. This focus on tech and office space 
is supported by our People Strategy, which this year has 
focused on putting into place our Target Pay model and 
promoting our new Well-being strategy as well as 

delivering over 30,000 hours of training. We know that 
our staff are the key to the success of our business and 
ensuring that they are properly rewarded, trained and 
supported is central to our approach. 

We continue to strive to be 'the local partner' and are 
delighted to report on the progress made on our many 
partnership projects, the biggest of which are the £1 
billion Purfleet-on-Thames regeneration in Thurrock 
which we are delivering in partnership with Thurrock 
Council though our joint venture PCRL and our new 
Porters Place Southend-on-Sea LLP joint venture with 
Southend-on-Sea-Borough Council which will bring 
about the regeneration of the Queensway Estate in 
Southend.  

Despite Covid-19, we continue to move forward, and I 
am grateful to everyone on the Swan team who has 
helped us progress this year.

Valerie Owen OBE 
Chair – Swan Housing Association Limited 
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2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 

Income and Expenditure £m £m £m £m £m

Turnover 170.5 81.1 91.1 101.6 109.9

Turnover on general needs housing (excluding lease income) 52.7 52.3 50.6 50.5 48.7

Surplus before tax 7.3 9.8 15.6 8.2 10.8

Interest payable 13.5 15.4 16.0 16.2 15.7

Balance Sheet £m £m £m £m £m

Tangible fixed assets – housing properties 772.1 741.2 720.8 690.2 703.7

Investment in new housing properties 60.0 34.4 45.6 16.3 18.1

Expenditure on repairs and maintenance 10.8 10.7 10.1 9.4 9.4

Grants - cash received 3.0 59.5 0.4 0.8 3.7

Banking borrowing (excluding fair value adjustments) 268.4 258.9 260.8 230.5 284.3

Bonds in issue 235.0 210.0 210.0 210.0 150.0

Accommodation (units)

Total social housing stock owned 10,161 9,845 9,836 9,802 9,876

Total social housing stock owned and managed 11,646 11,331 11,323 11,293 11,396

KPI Data

Interest cover 188% 189% 168% 232% 220%

Net debt per unit (£) 47,015 47,446 49,587 44,591 47,782

General needs tenant arrears as % of rent due 1.96% 1.83% 2.24% 2.37% 2.48%

Void turnaround (days) 14.5 13.8 13.3 13.6 14.5

% of all repairs completed on time 96.7% 99.0% 99.2% 98.9% 98.5%

      

Group Consolidated Highlights – 5 Year Summary 
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Principal Activities

The Swan Group (‘Swan’) is headed by Swan Housing 
Association Limited, which continues to be one of the 
leading regenerating Housing Associations in Essex 
and East London. Since taking circa 2,000 homes in 
Basildon from the Commissioner for New Towns in 
1994, we have grown to owning and managing over 
11,500 homes in Essex and East London. Our social 
purpose is providing homes and services for those who 
need them. For us, that’s about ensuring that as many 
people as possible feel that they have 'somewhere to 
feel at home'.

We provide general needs housing services, services to 
our leaseholders, NHS keyworker accommodation, 
supported housing accommodation and care services. 
We also manage properties on behalf of other housing 
providers.  We build new homes across a range of 
tenures using traditional and modular housing across a 
range of schemes.  All profits made are reinvested in 
new homes and services for our residents to ensure 
that we create sustainable communities where people 
feel at home.

Strategic Report

Business and Financial Review

The Board is reporting an operating surplus of £32.6m 
(2019: £25.4m restated), a surplus before tax of £7.3m 
(2019: £9.8m) and total comprehensive income of 
£10.6m (2019: £6.5m restated) for the year. 

Total comprehensive income has been adversely 
impacted by two material non-cash movements in the 
year. The first is a £14.6m deterioration (2019: £2.1m 
deterioration) in the mark to market position of the 
Group's two non-basic financial instruments. The 
second is a £3.2m actuarial gain (2019: £1.1m actuarial 
loss) in respect of its defined benefit pension obligation 
for the SHPS multi-employer pension scheme due to a 
change in the macro-economic assumptions.

The operating surplus includes another significant 
contribution from our social housing activities of £22.2m 
(2019: £21.9m) whilst our development activities 
delivered an operating surplus of £7.2m (2019: £0.5m). 
The development surplus, whilst higher than the prior 
year, was lower than anticipated due to construction 
delays at our Cambridge Road (360 Barking) and 
Blackwall Reach development schemes. Both of these 
projects were practically complete at year end, however 
sales completions were impacted by the Covid-19 
lockdown and delays in building sign offs. Sales are 
expected to complete during the new financial year.

Turnover at £170.5m (2019: £81.1m) was a record year 
despite the adverse impact of the delays noted above. 
This was primarily due to private sales and 
development activities of £83m and first tranche shared 
ownership sales of £16m.

Group reserves increased to £245.2m (2019 : £234.7m 
restated) and our balance sheet remains strong. 
Interest cover and net debt per unit, our key loan 
covenants, continue to meet our lenders’ requirements. 

The Association continues to perform in the upper 
quartile when benchmarked against our peers in terms 
of void turnaround which was 14.5 days for the year 
(2019: 13.8 days) and current tenant arrears remain 
better than target at 1.96% (2019: 1.83%).

Somewhere 

to feel 

at home
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Creating Communities where people feel at 
home

At Swan we remain committed to both delivering on our 
large-scale regeneration projects and investing in our 
homes and services for our existing residents to ensure 
that we create sustainable communities where residents 
can thrive as well as feeling at home.  

All of the proceeds from our commercial activities are 
reinvested in new homes and in services. This enables 
us to deliver a wide range of community engagement 
and development activity in the communities in which 
we work, including working to ensure that residents are 
consulted and can help to shape the regeneration 
activity that we are delivering.

The local partner

In 2019/20 we have focused on working closely with our 
Borough, the Greater London Authority (GLA) and 
Homes England partners. In London we’ve collaborated 
to hand over new affordable homes in the London 
Boroughs of Redbridge, Barking and Dagenham and 
Tower Hamlets supporting our partners and the GLA to 
deliver much needed new homes for Londoners. We 
continue to take forward further schemes in partnership 
with the London Boroughs of Waltham Forest and 
Tower Hamlets. 

As a Strategic Partner of the GLA we continue to work 
closely with them to deliver not only our existing 
regeneration activity but also to explore new 
opportunities to deliver homes for Londoners using the 
funding provided by the GLA for this work. 

In Essex, we have deepened our partnership working 
with both Basildon Borough Council and Thurrock 
Council through our regeneration activity. In Basildon, 
as well as starting to hand over the latest phase of 
Beechwood, with Beechwood West’s private sale and 
shared ownership custom designed modular houses, 
we’ve also been progressing production at our Modular 
Housing factory and our schemes in Laindon including 
demolishing the Laindon Shopping Centre. In Thurrock, 
we’ve worked with the Borough and our joint venture 

Strategic Report (cont.)

partners to secure further planning permission and 
significant Homes England Housing Infrastructure 
Funding funding for Purfleet and worked with the wider 
community there to support the renaming of the town 
“Purfleet-on-Thames”.  

Our relationship with Southend-on-Sea Borough 
Council has developed this year through our partnership 
in Porters Place Southend-on-Sea LLP, in which we are 
working together to bring about the regeneration of the 
Queensway Estate. We always seek to be the best 
local partner we can be and during the last 12 months 
the focus has been on getting to know the community at 
Queensway, the wider stakeholders and our Borough 
partners better, as well as progressing the regeneration.  
After a joint launch event and two successful rounds of 
wide-ranging consultation activity, we continue to be on 
track to submit our planning application later this year 
and are supporting the Borough with their Housing 
Infrastructure Funding application in relation to the 
project. 

Our strategic partnership with Homes England 
continues with its support for our regeneration and 
innovation activity across Essex, helping us deliver 
much needed homes and sustainable communities.  

We continue to support the wider objectives of the 
Boroughs in which we work participating in a range of 
activity to support social, economic and regeneration 
activity. 
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Delivering services to make people feel at 
home

This year we have continued our work to ensure that we 
are delivering high quality services to our customers 
with a particular focus on:

• Improving the experience for new residents 
through our 'onboarding team' who help new 
residents become Swan Tenants: We listened to 
feedback which said that residents were dissatisfied 
with the process and particularly with having to 
speak to a range of different staff to put all the new 
tenant arrangements in place.  Instead, each new 
tenant is now assigned a dedicated onboarding 
officer, who helps them with every aspect of 
becoming a tenant whether it is setting up a rent 
account, understanding their tenancy agreement or 
raising repairs. This has resulted in a significant 
improvement in customer satisfaction which has 
increased from a 68% low during the year to an end 
of year figure of 78%. We will strive to further 
improve and have set a challenging target of 85% 
satisfaction for 2020/21.

• Increasing our digital engagement with our 
residents: We consulted with residents on their 
priorities for communication channels as part of our 
move to digital.  Many residents told us they wanted 
to be able to view, log, report and manage their 

Swan accounts more easily and their feedback has 
been used to develop a new Swan customer portal. 
Work on this should be completed in 2020/21 and 
residents will be able to report a repair and access 
all account information in one place whilst on the 
move.  We launched 'Live Chat' with residents on 
Swan.org in September 2019, providing 
instantaneous responses to customer queries. This 
has been well received and during the Covid-19 
response particularly, we have seen an increase in 
its use by residents. 

• Continued increase in customer satisfaction 
around complaints handling and outcome: We 
understand the value of this type of feedback in 
terms of a learning opportunity and review trends at 
a range of levels across the Group, to help identify 
areas for improvement and inform action plans.  
This embracing of complaints, together with our 
centralised approach to ensure consistency and 
fairness, has helped ensure that satisfaction with 
complaints handling increased again this year to 
93% and 95% of residents were satisfied with the 
outcome ensuring we remain in the top quartile of 
our peer group.  

 

Significant 
improvement in 
customer satisfaction

Live Chat was 
launched in 
Sep 2019

95% of residents 
were satisfied with 
the outcome of their 
complaint

A new Customer 
Portal will be ready 
in 2020/21
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Strategic Report (cont.)

Operational KPI Performance 

This year we have again maintained strong KPI 
performance across a range of indicators although 
there was a slight reduction in some. Overall customer 
satisfaction remains good at 78.3%, our void 
performance continues to be in the top quartile at 14.5 
days, though a slight drop in each case against last 
year and arrears continue to exceed target at 1.96% 
(2018/19: 1.83%).

Swan’s Asset Management Strategy sets out the 
framework within which we work to manage our assets, 
uphold the condition of our homes, deliver 
enhancements beyond our requirements and ensure 
our homes continue to provide a safe place for our 
residents to live. 

Our strategic partnership with Axis continues to deliver 
upper/medium quartile performance when 
benchmarked.  Excellent satisfaction results for cyclical, 
stock investments and planned maintenance services 
and 100% Gas safety compliance were again delivered. 
99.9% of emergency repairs were completed on time 
and 99.9% of appointments were made and kept, 
exceeding targets in both cases. However, sector wide 
challenges around day to day repairs and specifically a 
shortage of operatives and engineers particularly at the 
start of 19/20 has impacted performance.  96.7% of all 

repairs were completed on target, a slight reduction on 
last year and 92.0% of customers were satisfied with 
their last repair in our end of year satisfaction survey. 
Whilst satisfaction remains high it does represent a 
decline. We are committed to reviewing our customer 
experience as part of the development of our new 
Corporate Strategy which will be adopted in 2020/21.

Staffing and skills shortages across the repairs sector 
are being carefully monitored and the implementation of 
a new planning and scheduling tool by our repairs 
partner Axis has made a significant impact and has 
enabled resources to be deployed appropriately during 
the Covid-19 lockdown period at the end of the year.  

100% of our homes meet the current Decent Homes 
Standard (DHS) and we have adopted a Decent Homes 
PLUS standard which has shorter life cycle time scales 
for kitchens (20 years) than those set by the 
Government's DHS (30 years). Overall there is a 
99.17% customer satisfaction rate with the works 
ensuring the high quality of our homes and on 
adaptations to help our residents.

 

100% Gas safety 
compliance

99.9% of 
emergency repairs 
were completed on 
time

100% of our homes 
meet the current 
Decent Homes 
Standard (DHS) 

92% of customers 
were satisfied with 
their last repair
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Health and Safety 

Health and safety are of paramount importance to Swan 
and we are committed to ensuring that we appropriately 
deliver all legislative, regulatory and best practice 
requirements. We again finished the year with no gas 
safety certificates outstanding.    

We carry out Fire Risk Assessments (FRA) on an 
annual basis to all properties where there are shared 
communal areas. We also increase this frequency if 
work is being carried out to common parts of a property 
and if any changes or incidents have occurred, to 
ensure that any repairs and installations have not 
altered the fire integrity of the building.   

We employ an external independent Health and Safety 
Consultant to give advice on all fire safety issues. Last 
year we decided to undertake Type 4 Fire Risk 
Assessments in all our properties over 5 storeys high 
and in all our supported housing. This programme is 
ongoing.  Where these assessments are complete, we 
will take whatever action is needed to comply with 
Government Recommendations to keep residents safe. 
Where a block is managed by another landlord, we are 
working with them to ensure they have carried out all 
necessary checks on the block and acted on any 
recommendations they have received following these 
checks.   

We were required to complete 647 FRA’s in 2019/20. 
The majority were the standard annual review of an 
existing FRA, the rest were new FRAs for new build 
properties. At the end of 2019 all FRAs had been 
completed on target i.e. within 12 months since the 
previous FRA was carried out and we had provided new 
FRAs for newly constructed properties where required 
prior to and after handover. All high priority items had 
been actioned with no items left overdue.

Swan has two developments identified as having ACM 
Cladding installed and we are working hard to ensure 
the remediation works are undertaken in a timely way. 
There have been challenges and complications 
however both projects are expected to commence 
during 2020/21.
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Welfare Reform

Our investment in Welfare Reform support has 
continued to provide significant benefit this year with the 
expertise of the team particularly in demand at the end 
of the year as the COVID-19 impact was felt. During the 
first 12 weeks of lockdown for example the team 
supported 521 residents who called the Income Team to 
discuss the impact of Covid-19 on their household. 

During the year our Welfare team contacted 2,953 
households and visited 634 residents to provide 
support.  231 residents who are eligible were supported 
to apply for Discretionary Housing Payments (DHPs) to 
cover their rent shortfall.  The team also assisted 
residents to claim over £980,000 of various benefits to 
sustain their tenancies and improve their finances.

Resident Involvement and Community 
Development (RICD)

In the first year of our new three-year strategy 'Count 
Me In - Involvement and Communities' the RICD team 
has: 

• Supported 366 people through 31 employment, 
skills and training projects and initiatives. 29 people 
have gone on to secure paid employment whilst 66 
went on to undertake further learning and 
development opportunities.

• Delivered over 41 Community Development 
Projects aimed across topics such as health and 
well-being and building community cohesion.

• Worked with over 2,310 individuals who have 
benefitted from the projects that we have delivered 
including 1,884 in Community Development and 
Regeneration activity, 60 through the Winter 
Warmer campaign and 366 through employment 
and training initiatives.

• The team also have engaged with a further 536 
residents through Resident Involvement activity 
bringing the total to 2,846.

Strategic Report (cont.)

As part of that RICD Strategy during 2019/20, the RICD 
team have supported residents to influence our services 
to ensure that we are responding to their needs as our 
customers:

• Our Resident Scrutiny Panel have delivered two 
scrutiny reviews and have tackled a range of 
subjects including Recharges and Resident 
Involvement opportunities.

• We developed and ran our Summer Conversation 
events across 10 Swan sites enabling us to consult 
with 399 of our residents on subject matters that are 
important to them, such as Swan’s digital journey 
and how they felt about the service that they receive 
from Swan. 

• We have ensured that residents are involved in 
co-design and consultation activity across a range 
of Regeneration schemes including Better 
Queensway in Southend-on-Sea and Blackwall 
Reach and Exmouth Estate in Tower Hamlets.  
These activities are not only designed to ensure 
local communities have a say in the regeneration of 
their communities but also to inspire them to take 
part in training, enlighten their career objectives and 
identify their aspirations and needs in relation to 
these developments. Our first ever “Community 
Activation Officer” has been deployed on the Better 
Queensway regeneration and is focusing on both 
engagement and consultation activity and wider 
activation work designed to deliver longer term 
social and economic benefits as part of the Better 
Queensway regeneration project. 

2,846
Total number of 
residents taking part in 
all RICD activities
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Round up on consultation events - Better Queensway
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Community Case Study:                   
Exmouth Think Big project 

Exmouth residents encouraged to ‘Think Big’ about 
careers

In February 2020, 70 young people from Swan’s 
Exmouth Estate, E1, graduated from the first part of our 
'Think Big' project which aims to raise the aspirations of 
young people to consider careers in architecture, 
planning and regeneration. 

The project facilitated by Open City and Newark Youth 
London, saw young people, aged 8-13 and 14-18 years 
old, take part in free workshops on the design, 
architecture and creativity that go into creating buildings 
that people want to live in, with the participants getting 
the opportunity  to make their own model buildings, with 
the 3 best models being transformed into professional 
architectural models and displayed at Swan Housing 
Association's consultation shop on the Exmouth Estate.

A visit to the Grade II listed Barbican Complex to inspire 
them to 'Think Big' in terms of the projects that they 
would design and focus on the shape, texture and 
space, that go into designing a building or housing 
development scheme to help them contribute to the 
consultation activity around the regeneration of their 
estate. 

Next, they will work alongside design professionals to 
create a portfolio of work, which can contribute to 
coursework for GCSE, A' level or equivalent 
qualifications with work experience and apprenticeship 
opportunities following on.

The ‘Think Big’ programme is about encouraging young 
people to consider the variety of fantastic career options 
that are available to them in the construction sector 
across disciplines such as planning, regeneration and 
architecture.  These skills are key for organisations such 
as Swan and by taking part in the course will encourage 
the young people of Exmouth to aspire to greater goals, 
in whatever industry they choose to work in.

Strategic Report (cont.)

Think Big Youth Initiative
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Equality, Diversity and Inclusion

We successfully delivered year two of our Equality 
Scheme 2018/22 action plan and:

• Retained our Housing Diversity Network (HDN) 
accreditation for excellence in equality and diversity, 
with eight distinctions for good practice; 

• Developed and delivered refresher training for our 
Board and Executive team to support the promotion 
of Diversity in Leadership;

• Having supported four staff to participate in 
2018/19, this year we supported eight members of 
staff to participate in the award-winning Housing 
Diversity Network mentoring scheme (five as 
mentees and three as mentors);

• Raised awareness of various EDI matters internally 
through training, our intranet and interactive 
information events for employees and involved 
residents including our annual Diversity Day which 
was themed ‘Celebrating Success’ with a focus on 
LGBT+, gender and disability equality;

• Participated in Essex Pride and London Pride in 
partnership with HouseProud and Axis, and hosted 
the Tower Hamlets LGBT+ History Month launch 
evening;

• Delivered an action plan to ensure that we continue 
to support residents and customers affected by 
domestic abuse;

• We also delivered two full day training sessions on 
our Inspiring Swans programme to support our staff 
and to help address Gender Equality issues training 
over 50 of our female staff. The Inspiring Swans 
Group have met regularly throughout the year and 
have also acted as a sounding board for the People 
Team on key staffing issues including Carers Leave 
and Support and Covid-19 support for staff with 
caring responsibilities. 

Forest Gate PFI

We celebrated 10 years of delivering the Forest Gate 
PFI contract to the London Borough of Newham with a 
summer fete and afternoon tea with involved residents.  
Having provided housing management services for 
circa 1,400 homes, for 10 years, satisfaction rates with 
our service this year were 87% for tenants and 81% 
leaseholders. 

We continued our Welfare Benefit support to Newham 
residents, this year securing over £109,000 in additional 
benefits to help residents to sustain their tenancies.  We 
have also worked in partnership with the Borough 
focusing on anti-social behaviour.

Property Management Services

Our team continue to provide Property Management 
services to Boroughs including London Borough of 
Havering and Thurrock Council, as well as a range of 
private landlords. The team have also begun to provide 
property management services through our rentNU 
private rental brand.

Think Big Youth Initiative
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Building new homes where people can feel 
at home

2019/20 saw Swan complete 708 homes. 466 of these 
were built in house by our contractor NU living and the 
balance, 242 homes at Blackwall Reach Phase 1b were 
completed by Hills as our principal contractor. This 
represents a significant milestone for Swan as going 
forward all of our development programme will be built 
in house by NU living. At the end of the financial year 
we had 696 homes onsite across our schemes at 
Beechwood West, and Laindon Shopping Centre, 
Landmark and Station Road, Laindon in Essex and at 
Blackwall Reach Phase 2 and Watts Grove in Tower 
Hamlets and at Essex Cordage in Waltham Forest. 

Sales were completed in the year on 293 homes 
including 141 shared ownership and 152 private sale. 

This activity is helping us deliver on our corporate 
strategy target of an additional 10,000 homes by 2027. 
We again received national recognition having been 
Homebuilder of the Year (<1,000 homes a year 
programme) at the UK Housing Awards 2019.  In this 
financial year, we won Housebuilder of the Year 2019 at 
the UK Construction Week Awards as well as Most 
Innovative Developer 2019 at the Building Innovation 
Awards.  Our scheme at Beechwood West again won 
accolades, this year as Best Modular Development 
2019 at the Building Innovation Awards. 

Strategic Report (cont.)

Homebuilder of the Year
(UK Housing Awards 2019)

Most Innovative Developer 2019
(Building Innovation Awards)

Housebuilder of the Year 2019
(UK Construction Week Awards)
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Paragon Case Study

Swan celebrates the launch of over 100 new social 
housing properties in Redbridge

Delivering new affordable homes for those who need 
them is central to Swan’s social purpose.  By 
completing 141 homes at the Paragon, Ilford, we 
supplied one, two and three-bedroom flats offering 
genuinely affordable homes for rent to the London 
Borough of Redbridge, as well as homes for shared 
ownership. The project, part funded by the Mayor of 
London, allowed more than half of those who moved in 
to leave temporary accommodation.  

Council Leader Cllr. Jas Athwal said:

“I want to thank both Swan Housing and the Mayor 
for their support and for helping us provide a fresh 
start for local families.”

Strategic Report (cont.)

Paragon, Ilford
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As well as completing over 700 homes, this year we 
have achieved several key milestones on other projects 
within our 8,000 plus home secured development 
pipeline:

Purfleet Town Centre Regeneration  

Working in partnership with mixed use-developer Urban 
Catalyst, through a joint venture vehicle known as 
Purfleet Centre Regeneration Limited (PCRL), which in 
turn is collaborating with Thurrock Borough Council, 
Swan secured further planning consents for this large 
regeneration project and secured an additional £75m of 
Housing Infrastructure funding. Once completed, the 
regeneration will deliver a new town centre for Purfleet-
on-Thames in Essex complete with shops and 
restaurants, and up to 2,850 new homes, alongside an 
integrated medical centre, improved transport 
infrastructure and a new primary school.

The Master Plans, approved in April 2019, also include 
a 1m sq. ft. ‘media village'. This will help Purfleet-on-
Thames on its journey to becoming a leading creative 
hub, with the town already home to High House 
Production Park and Royal Opera House production 
workshop.  

In January 2020, phase one consisting of 61 new 
high-quality family homes, a children’s play area and an 
orchard walk also received planning approval. 
Preliminary works are anticipated to start on site later in 
2020.

Better Queensway Regeneration, 
Southend-on-Sea

Following a 10-month procurement process, in April 
2019 Swan and Southend-on-Sea Borough Council 
formed a joint venture partnership to deliver the 
regeneration of the Queensway Estate in Southend-on-
Sea. The joint venture partnership, Porters Place 
Southend-on-Sea LLP, since then has focused on 
carrying out wide ranging stakeholder consultation and 
engagement with residents of the Queensway Estate 
and the wider community to enable us to develop a 

master plan for the scheme for submission later this 
year.  

Ian Ward who lives on the Queensway Estate, said:

"I recently attended the public consultation and I 
enjoyed discussing the plans and particularly 
seeing a 3D model. As a member of the Steering 
Group I was pleased to see this as it makes it more 
real for everyone on the Queensway Estate."

Purfleet Town Centre Regeneration - CGI

Better Queensway Regeneration - CGI
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Better Queensway Regeneration, 
Southend-on-Sea (cont.)

Always seeking to be the local partner our teams have 
worked closely with colleagues from Southend-on-Sea 
Borough Council to deliver a full range of engagement 
and consultation events which has seen over 600 
residents and stakeholders attend to date. These 
events included a launch event on the estate, a range 
of consultation events for a broad range of stakeholders 
including residents, local politicians, the business and 
voluntary sectors, and even the Southend Youth 
Council.  Having completed the first two rounds of 
consultation pre Covid-19, the team are now working 
with the Resident Steering Group we have formed to 
co-design key elements of the masterplans for the 
estate before carrying out final consultation activity and 
submitting their planning application for a housing led, 
circa 1,600 home scheme that will see the estate 
transformed.

Geoff Pearce, Swan’s Deputy Chief Executive and 
Chair of the Porters Place Southend-on-Sea LLP Board, 
said: 

"We are delighted to be able to be moving forward 
with this exciting project. The consultation carried 
out to date has shown that the local community are 
keen for us to bring them a regenerated Queensway 
as soon as possible, so that they can benefit from 
the new opportunities this will bring."  

Blackwall Reach Tower Hamlets

Having already completed Phase 1a of this large scale 
regeneration we are delivering in Tower Hamlets in 
partnership with the GLA and London Borough of Tower 
Hamlets, including 98 homes, a new multi-purpose 
Community Facility known as 'The Reach', a Swan 
regional office and an extended school and a 
replacement mosque, we were delighted to hand over 
Phase 1b, growing this community to almost 350 
households.  Phase 1a delivered primarily social 
housing, with Phase 1b cross subsidising those homes 
and the community infrastructure through over 200 

Strategic Report (cont.)

private sale, 6 shared ownership and 36 social rent 
apartments. The completion of 1b also included new 
high-quality public realm including a new station square 
outside the Blackwall DLR station, with public art, 
planting and which will include a range of commercial 
uses to create a vibrant new space at the heart of the 
regeneration. 

Our in-house contractor NU living is now progressing 
with Phase 2 of this project which will provide 262 
homes replacing the old Robin Hood Gardens West 
block with a mix of social and affordable housing and a 
new public realm. 

Blackwall Reach Tower Hamlets Phase 1a
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Blackwall Reach Tower Hamlets Phase 1b
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NU living

As we completed the 2019/20 Financial year, we had 
696 homes onsite all of which are being built out by NU 
living. The NU living team completed 466 of the 708 
homes handed over by Swan in 2019/20 (the balance at 
Phase 1B Blackwall Reach having been built by a 
third-party contractor).  The NU living team continue to 
build both traditionally and using precision engineered 
offsite modular housing assembled in our factory in 
Basildon in Essex.  

Our fully vertically integrated construction approach 
allows us to manage construction delivery in-house to 
accelerate start on site through the early involvement of 
the construction team in the design.  In 2019/20 we 
added an in-house drawing function to our expertise 
which has significantly increased the efficiency of the 
design process. 

Our fully integrated approach extends to include 
Communications and Community/ Stakeholder 
engagement which this year has been key as we have 
taken projects including Better Queensway forward.  
Schemes are managed through our in-house project 
management team and access to high quality 
consultants through our own and strategic partner’s 
frameworks (including those of the GLA and Homes 
England) further reduces procurement time. 

However, we recognise that this financial year did see 
continued delays in the handover of our scheme at 360 
Barking which was caused primarily by unprecedented 
emerging guidance on both building control and 
mortgage lender requirements, however the additional 
works were complete early in 2020/21.

Our modular housing factory has continued to precision 
engineer high quality modular homes for Beechwood in 
Essex and for Watts Grove in Tower Hamlets.  The first 
shared ownership homes at Beechwood West were 
occupied this year and the scheme won Best Modular 
Development at the Building Innovation Awards 2019.  

These award-winning homes at Beechwood West have 
been particularly popular with Buyers, who have used 
our online configurator to design their own home, 

Strategic Report (cont.)

choosing to make both internal and external design 
changes, add extensions and additional rooms and 
personalise their own home. At the end of the financial 
year 30 homes were completed and of these 29 were 
sold.

Fully Vertically Integrated Construction and 
Manufacturing Approach:

Fully Integrated Support Services:

Aftercare and Support
Installation
Construction
Procurement
Design

Consultation

Communications

Sales

Marketing

22
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The factory which currently uses cross laminated timber 
(‘CLT’) to build volumetric modules, which are fully fitted 
out with kitchens, bathrooms, even floor coverings 
before leaving the factory, is close to full production. It 
continued to operate throughout the COVID-19 
response as we were able to put into place a range of 
measures to ensure safe working could continue. Our 
traditional construction sites were temporarily closed in 
line with Government guidelines although they have 
since reopened in a safe, phased way in line with that 
guidance.  

Our Modular NU build factory

We have continued to share our approach to 
Modern Methods of Construction and were 
delighted to be recognised as the 'Most Innovative 
Developer' at the Building Innovation Awards 
2019. Since launching our factory, we have 
welcomed over 1,000 visitors and in 2019/20 this 
included both the Construction Minister Andrew 
Stephenson MP and also  MP Nadhim Zahawi, 
Parliamentary Under Secretary of State (Minister 
for Business and Industry).

Parliamentary Under Secretary of State (Minister 
for Business and Industry) Nadhim Zahawi said:

"Modular construction is helping provide more 
affordable homes in the UK and it was 
fascinating to learn more about this type of 
engineering at the Swan Housing Association 
factory. We are backing this type of 
development through our Construction Sector 
Deal and I am pleased to see how it is being 
used to help build new communities."

Swan Housing Association Limited | Year ended: 31 March 2020 23
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Strategic Report (cont.)

Delivery Model

Own factory since 2017

Fully Volumetric Approach  

Bopas Accredited

CLT and LGS

Flats and House Modules

Factory Viable @ 

500
modules

1,000
modules

Factory Capacity  



Swan Housing Association Limited | Year ended: 31 March 2020 25

Supporting people to feel at home  

This year has seen us continue to deliver high quality 
care and support to a range of people striving to live as 
independently as possible including young people, older 
people, adults with learning disabilities and those 
needing support to come out of, or to avoid hospital 
care.  

We were delighted to receive an overall rating of 
'outstanding' from the Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
for our rapid response care service in Colchester which 
enables people who are in need of care and support in 
a variety of ways, to remain living in their own homes.

The domiciliary care service provided by Swan received 
the 'outstanding' rating following a  review carried out by 
the CQC inspection team in December 2019. Since 
April 2019, Swan has provided care that has enabled 
1,991 people to be safely discharged from hospital and 
avoided 275 people being admitted to hospital. Its 
dedicated team of 'Night Owls' also travelled through 
the night to visit 227 people, preventing them from 
being admitted to hospital.

As well as finding Swan's Care and Support service to 
be responsive and well-led, the CQC's report stated 
that: 'We were repeatedly told Swan staff were 
exceptionally compassionate and kind'. The inspectors 
described the service as being 'innovative' in its 
approach to care, noting that without the support of 
staff, many of the people using the service would have 
remained in hospital although there was no medical 
need for them to be there.

Inspectors highlighted the high level of training that 
Swan staff receive, such as specialist training in areas 
such as management of spinal braces. Staff also 
become 'champions' in areas of interest to them such 
as dementia and end of life care and in turn, share best 
practice with other team members and care partners.

We were repeatedly told 
Swan staff were 
exceptionally 
compassionate and kind.”
CQC report

OUTSTANDING

Swan's Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) rating

1,991
people safely 
discharged from 
hospital 
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Strategic Report (cont.)

Supporting people to feel at home (cont.)

We also were recognised for our end-of-life care and 
support this year, winning the End of Life Care Award 
(2019) for the exemplary care in this area at the Essex 
Prosper Care Awards 2019.  The Awards recognise 
excellence in Essex’ Care Sector.

Pete Morley-Watts, Swan's Director of Care and 
Support said:  "I am so proud that Swan Care and 
Support Services have won this award. Everyone 
on the team is dedicated to ensuring the people 
they care for can die according to their wishes. 
They frequently advocate for their clients and they 
ensure that a person's final wishes are met whilst 
providing support for family and friends."

All our care and support services continued to operate 
during the COVID-19 response including our accredited 
Foyers for young people, our supported housing 
services for those with support needs and our extra 
care living schemes, along with domiciliary care 
services in people’s homes. 

The team are focused on helping residents from across 
our supported schemes to flourish.  This year 72 
activities were organised for our residents within 
supported housing with 943 records of people 
benefitting from a range of individual and group 
activities over the year across a range of topic areas.

The outcomes of these activities were measured over 
the year by the supported team applying a value-based 
methodology.  In total, 2,710 outcomes were measured 
over the 12-month period.  Feeling happier was the 
largest outcome, closely followed by residents being 
more sociable and feeling better connected to their 
communities.

Pete Morley-Watts, our Director of Care and Support 
has been recognised twice this year for his contribution 
to the sector, winning the 'Housing Professional of the 
Year' award at the prestigious 24 Housing Awards and 
the Housing Essex Excellence Awards.  The judges 
recognised the support Pete provides to ensure his 
team continuously improve the way they deliver Swan's 

high performing care and support services and the 
close partnerships he has helped Swan to forge with 
the Foyer Federation and local NHS commissioning 
teams such as the North Essex Clinical Commissioning 
Group.

As part of his partnership working at Swan, Pete Chairs 
the National Housing Federation's Health, Housing and 
Care Network (Eastern Region); is a Trustee for the 
Foyer Federation and a Director of the Essex Care 
Association. In his free time, he is also Secretary and 
founding member of Essex Pride with a key role 
organising Essex's annual Pride event.

Pete Morley-Watts - 'Housing Professional of the Year'

End of Life Care Award (2019) for Swan's Care and Support Team
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Outcomes case study 

In May 2020 residents from our young adult Foyer 
schemes completed a gardening project at our Extra 
Care Scheme in Rayleigh with the older residents who 
live there.  This project brought residents from different 
generations together to chat, plan and complete some 
gardening together.  

The older generation were passing on their knowledge 
of growing vegetables in exchange for the younger 
generation providing the physical resource to enable 
the vegetable gardens to be created. 

Outcomes recorded were: Feeling better connected 
with the wider community, an increase in 
communication skills and feeling healthier.  

Feeling better 
connected with 

the wider 
community

An increase in 
communication 

skills

Feeling 
healthier

Gardening project
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Strategic Report (cont.)

Telling our story... the facts

Awards 

6
national awards won

2
12
regional awards won

awards finalist

External events 

Highlights:

• LREF
• RICD events such as Summer 

Conversations and Exmouth 
Think Big projects

• consulation events for Better 
Queensway and Purfleet-on-
Thames

• a number of networking type 
events

56
industry events and 
exhibitions

28

Building Innovation Awards
Most Innovative Developer 
Uplan

UK Construction Week Awards
Housebuilder of the year
Swan/NU

Building Innovation Awards 
Best Modular Development 
Beechwood West

Building Innovation Awards 
Best Modular Development 
Beechwood West

UK Housing Awards
Homebuilder of the Year 
(less than 1000 programme)

24 Housing Awards
Housing Professional of the Year 
Pete Watts

Housing Heroes
Lifetime achievement award 
John Synnuck

Prospers – Essex Care Sector Awards
End of Life Care Award

Housing Essex Excellence Awards
Excellent Housing Professional
Pete Watts
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Telling our story... the facts

Social media

Press Websites 

5,638
fans 

186,000
impressions

1,300
likes and comments 

3,055

followers 

followers 
235,000

impressions

impressions
488

likes and comments 

likes and comments 

6,522 139,000 3,640

134,384
users 

454,218
page views 

9,517
publications reads 

46 external news 
stories issued  

808
coverage 

14,280,000
total reach 
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Building Innovation Awards 
Best Modular Development 
Beechwood West

UK Housing Awards
Homebuilder of the Year 
(less than 1000 programme)
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Being a brilliant place to work

This financial year has seen Swan make significant 
progress against our People Strategy which is 
designed to make Swan Group a brilliant place to work.  
We were delighted to end the year having not only 
secured our Investors in People Gold Award but also to 
officially be in the Top 10 Best Housing Association to 
work for in the Sunday Times Top 100 Not for Profit 
Companies list as part of the Best Companies Awards. 

As we move into year two of our people strategy, we 
grew to 562 employees increasing by an additional 85 
since March 2019. Much of this recruitment growth has 
been carried out by our Talent Acquisition Officer who, 
having been appointed in March 2019 has supported 
our managers to recruit over 70 positions this year, 
making a further saving on agency fees this financial 
year. This workstream has also been supported by our 
new recruitment portal introduced this year, allowing us 
to attract talent more easily as well as report on 
important statistics such as equality and diversity 
indicators and time taken to hire. 

Having completed our Target Pay activity last financial 
year, we continued our reward and retain workstream 
through the introduction of a new SMART chat 
process, moving on from a traditional annual appraisal 
model. This new process now ensures that each 
employee instead has at least four conversations a 
year about their performance and development.  We’ve 
also introduced a talent and succession programme 
including talent calibration sessions with Heads of 
Service, identifying individual and team specific 
development needs. 

We’ve delivered over 32,000 hours of training in 
2019/20 including individual study, mandatory training 
and our new leadership and development programme 
which began with the “Ignite” training course for entry 
level managers. We are currently developing our new 
course for middle-management to be known as 
“Aspire” and this activity will be resumed in line with 
guidance around Covid-19 response in the coming 
financial year. 

Strategic Report (cont.)

Our Inspiring Swan’s programme has been particularly 
successful this year, with the training being rolled out 
across further cohorts with over 30 female staff 
completing the training based on the 'Inspirational You' 
training sessions developed by Dr Sam Collins’ 
programme. Staff who participated in the first training 
course have helped deliver subsequent training leading 
sessions based on their own experiences. The Group 
has become a trusted sounding board for the People 
Team and are regularly consulted on a range of People 
Team workstreams. As such, whilst women are 
represented at our highest levels, both as members of 
the Board and the Executive Team and in senior roles,  
we are conscious that women remain under-
represented generally in senior roles and we see this 
and the other training programmes we are providing as 
a way to ensure that meaningful and lasting change can 
happen over time and with the involvement of the whole 
organisation.

We continue to support our staff through a range of 
well-being activities and introduced a Well Being 
Strategy this year with three main pillars:

1. Health & Wellbeing Matters – Looking after the 
Health and Wellbeing of our employees 

2. Lifestyle Matters – Getting that work/home life 
balance just right 

3. Mental Health Matters – Educating and Looking 
after the Mental Health of our Employees 

Health & Wellbeing 
Matters 

Mental Health 
Matters 

Lifestyle 
Matters 
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2019/20 saw us deliver a range of activities under this 
strategy including:

• Health and Wellbeing Days focusing on employee 
health and offering ten-minute health checks; 
Nutrition Zone – giving guidance on healthy eating, 
diet and exercise; Pressure management zone – 
support to deal with everyday life stresses; and 
Musculoskeletal Zone – focusing on posture.

• Men’s Health Workshops to discuss the key health 
issues men face and things to look out for.  

• Menopause matters workshop to encourage staff to 
both understand and support those affected by the 
menopause. 

• Mental Health training for line managers and 
activities to promote a culture where “it’s ok to talk 
about mental health”

• A parent, grandparent and carer workshop to share 
feedback and ideas about managing the work/ life 
balance and how we can support our staff better.  

• Bring your Dog to Work days trialling how the 
presence of pets can reduce stress levels in the 
workplace, increase job satisfaction, team co-
operation and morale. These have been well 
received.

Looking forward to 2020/21 our key focus will include 
succession planning and belonging.

We have made good progress on our IT Transformation 
Programme, which has been significant in our capacity 

to respond successfully to the Covid-19 situation. 
Completion of the following key projects this year have 
been vital to facilitate our rapid move to all (except key 
front-line staff) working at home during the national 
lockdown period:

• agile working to provide tailored licencing enabling 
staff to work fully remotely, save those with 
specialist office-based equipment; 

• a 40% increase in network capacity to facilitate 
business continuity event planning; and 

• improved security for network and systems;

Our CX Project was ready to go live at the end of the 
financial year, however, we paused implementation until 
the summer due to Covid-19. The Customer Portal is 
also ready for go live and will follow on after the CX 
Project launch, helping support a channel shift to digital 
self-service by customers, which the Covid-19 response 
has already accelerated. 

We have also completed a complex tender process to 
procure a market leading Enterprise Resource Planning 
system (IFS), which will enable us to improve and 
automate end-to-end processes in Development, 
Manufacturing, Construction and the supply chain 
including purchase to pay. This project is expected to 
commence in 2020/21.

32,000
hours of training 
in 19/20 including 
individual study, 
mandatory training and 
our new leadership 
and development 
programme

> 30
female staff completing 
the training based 
on the  “Inspirational 
You” training sessions 
developed by Dr Sam 
Collins’ programme
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Delivering our social purpose

In 2019/20 we continued to focus on our social 
purpose ensuring that we continue to strive every day 
to make as many people as possible feel at home.

As well as all of the work that has already been 
highlighted in this report to invest in the communities in 
which we work, support our residents and ensure that 
our work delivers long term sustainable communities, 
our incredible staff continued to live our social purpose 
including:

Organising a Charity Football 
Tournament in June 2019 at the 
prestigious Leyton Orient Football 
Ground which raised over £2,000 for 
our Foyers in Basildon and Romford. 

22 teams, consisting of local authorities, architects, 
contractors and other partner organisations of Swan, 
joined in the event which saw Basildon Borough 
Council walk away victorious, beating consultants Altair 
in a penalty shootout in the final. The £2,000 raised 
from entry fees, was donated to Swan House Foyer, 
Dove Cott and Heather Court - where the residents 
have opted to buy projectors, to enable them to 
continue their learning and development on large 
screens and enjoy film nights together. 

Mayor of Basildon, Cllr David Burton-Sampson, said:

“This was an excellent event in aid of a very worthy 
cause, and I was delighted to see that the Basildon 
Council team emerged as victors. Well done to 
Swan for organising it and everyone who took 
part.”

Working with the community in Laindon 
to again host the Remembrance Sunday 
Parade at the Laindon War Memorial 
which is located at the Laindon 

Shopping Centre regeneration site. Having first 
engaged with the local community to both reassure 
and involve the local community regarding the 
temporary relocation of the historic War Memorial, the 
Laindon Development team then oversaw the 

Strategic Report (cont.)

temporary relocation of the memorial within the site, 
working with fine art and antiquities removal experts 
Momart, who have a Royal Warrant, who carried out the 
removal and temporary re-instatement and will return to 
install the much loved memorials to the centre of the 
new high street at the completed regeneration. 

Laindon resident Christine Smith commented: 

“Swan always said they would look after our 
monuments to the war dead. They kept their word 
and now come November we can have our usual 
service to commemorate those that died for us. I 
now look forward to seeing our memorial put at the 
centre of the new high street once the development 
is complete.”

The team then worked with local historian Ken Porter on 
a project to record all of the names of the fallen first on 
temporary hoarding behind the memorial in its temporary 
location and in time, on a new plinth which they have 
commissioned.  The hoarding was installed in time for 
Remembrance Sunday in November and having worked 
with the local community to organise the event, the team 
were delighted that the event attracted well over 100 
people, the largest attendance for a number of years. 

Holding a range of other charity and 
fundraising events throughout the year: 
including collecting food donations for local 
food banks; volunteering to take part in a 

range of Christmas kindness activities including serving 
lunches at the Christmas Social and Entertainment 
events on Swan estates and at lunches hosted by our 
Borough partners and volunteering at a local hospice’s 
Christmas fair; holding a ‘crafternoon’ tea for charity and 
again completing the Ahoy Rowing Challenge raising 
funds by rowing 8.5 miles along the Thames.
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Charity Football Tournament

Laindon War Memorial
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Capital Structure and Treasury Management

The Group's treasury policy is designed to ensure there 
is sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities as they fall due, 
that our covenants are met, that we achieve a market 
return on surplus funds and that our future funding plans 
fully support our strategic objectives. 

The Group continues to explore new funding 
opportunities to support its commercial activities.

Facilities and Liquidity

As at 31 March 2019 and 2020 the Group had the 
following committed facilities (see also notes 18 and 19 
to the financial statements):

As at 31 March 2020 the Group had committed and 
undrawn facilities comprising £33m of bank revolving 
credit facility (2019: £45m), £15m of bond (2019: £40m), 
no further capacity with the Greater London Authority 
(GLA) loans (2019: £3m) and £7m with Homes England 
Investment (HCAi) (2019: £20m), available for borrowing. 
In line with our prudent policies on liquidity management, 
these undrawn facilities meet all the Group's contractually 
committed developments.

In December 2019, S&P altered Group’s credit rating to 
BBB+ and maintained the negative outlook. 

During March 2020, Swan Housing Capital plc sold £25m 
of its retained bond at a yield of 2.74%, which raised total 
proceeds of £29.0m. 

Strategic Report (cont.)

Source         Facility
2020

                £m

      Drawn      
2020

                 £m 

          Facility 
2019

                 £m 

           Drawn 
2019

                   £m 

RBS facilities 137 107 137 93

Lloyds facilities 140 137 140 140

Bank Loan Total 277 244 277 233

Bond 250 235 250 210

Bank & Bond Total 527 479 527 443

RBS PFI 40 24 40 26

GLA Loans 79 79 79 77

HCAi Loan 30 23 30 10

Total Debt 676 605 676 556
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Interest Rate Risk Management

The Group borrows from two banks (2019: two) at 
varying types of interest rate. Embedded interest rate 
swaps are used to manage interest rate exposures to 
be primarily fixed to limit the Group's exposure to 
increases in interest rates. The impact of the transition 
from LIBOR to SONIA continues to be monitored by 
management.

At 31 March 2020, 83% (2019: 85%) of debt - 
excluding the GLA loans in Swan New Homes Limited 
and the HCAi loan in Swan Housing Finance Limited, 
was fixed and 17% (2019: 15%) was floating. Scenario 
analysis has been run to assess the sensitivity of the 
floating debt to movements in interest rates. 

The Bond and both GLA loans have fixed rates of 
interest. The HCAi loan is linked to the EC Base Rate 
plus a margin of 4%. No swaps have been used to 
convert these rates into a different interest rate basis.

The RBS PFI loan is fixed at the interest rate at 6.21%. 

If the £37m of drawn Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) at 
the year-end is excluded from the above figures, then 
the mix is 90% fixed and 10% floating.

The Group does not have any material non-Sterling or 
exchange rate exposures. 

The charts on the right show the split of outstanding 
debt, excluding the GLA and HCAi loans, between 
variable and fixed rates, and of the fixed rates, a 
further breakdown by fix type including and excluding 
the RCF.

1.  All drawn debt £479m (excluding GLA and HCAi 
loans)

2. Excluding £25m RCF

Variable
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Fixed: Callable < 1 year

Fixed: RPI Indexed
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Fixed: RPI Indexed
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Counterparty Risk Management

The Group maintains a formal counterparty policy in 
respect of those institutions where surplus funds may 
be deposited. Deposits are made either in call accounts, 
or where the notice period is no more than one year. In 
addition, the credit ratings of institutions are regularly 
reviewed and form part of any investment decision. 

Compliance with Loan Covenants

The Group has three key loan covenants:

1. Interest cover which is based on earnings before 
interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and major 
repairs included (EBITDA-MRI).

2. Net debt per unit which is based on those units 
which are owned or managed by Swan Housing 
Association Limited and generate a rental income.

3. Asset cover covenants, which are based on a 
percentage of the asset value for each lender.

Whilst the bank loans have all three of the above 
covenants, the £250m bond, which was issued in March 
2015 has only an asset cover covenant. 

All covenants are monitored monthly and reported to 
our lenders at least quarterly. For the year ended 31 
March 2020 the Group was in compliance with its 
covenants and the business plan forecasts ongoing 
compliance. All sources of finance are secured on 
housing assets.

Treasury Strategy

The Group will continue to look to deliver Value for 
Money savings through prudent cash management 
processes and minimising interest costs where possible 
and in line with Treasury policies.

Strategic Report (cont.)

Risk Management

The Group has a well-developed risk management 
system and an embedded culture of risk management. 
The Group's Risk Management Strategy clearly defines 
its risk appetite and the role of the Board, Audit and 
Risk Committee, Managers and Staff.  

Through risk management the Group:

• embed risk assessment and risk management into 
the culture of the organisation

• carry out risk assessments on all departments and 
significant projects

• monitor the overall impact of risks to ensure that the 
overall level of risk remains within acceptable limits

• minimise losses, injury and damage and reduce the 
cost of risk

• ensure appropriate mitigating actions are taken to 
address identified risks

• review key risks at Board and Audit and Risk 
Committee

• review and report on the effectiveness of risk 
management and our internal controls annually 

The Board considers that the key risks we face, which 
have been heightened by Covid-19, and include the 
material direct and indirect risks arising from the end of 
the United Kingdom’s transition period to exit the 
European Union in December 2020, are as follows:
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Key Risk: Controls and Mitigations:

• Failure to comply with property health and safety  
standards / expectations

• Robust Group health and safety policy and procedures in 
place, monitored and publicised

• Comprehensive reporting on health and safety at all levels 
including Board

• Fire safety sub-group to review and mitigate specific risks

• Cash/liquidity shortfall arising from adverse 
market sales income

• Increase in build costs significantly reduces the 
scale of development programme 

• Well established cash flow forecasting and business planning 
process

• Effective scenario planning including multi-variance analysis 
and mitigation strategies

• Covid-19 specific stress testing for Board

• Covenant breach as a result of one or more key 
risks materialising

• Regular, robust and transparent stress-testing of business 
plan and covenant compliance including Covid-19 specific 
scenarios

• Golden rules in place with triggers for action

• Counter Party Risk - construction contractors, 
key sub-contractors, and JV partners

• Ongoing due diligence of counter parties

• Business continuity policy, business interruption planning and 
exit strategies in place

• Failure to understand customer needs and 
priorities, to enable effective services and 
accountability to residents of all tenures.

• Customer experience model in place and responsive

• ‘Count Me In’ involvement and communities strategy and 
customer care policy in place

• Failure to meet regulatory expectations

• Change in Government policy materially impacts 
strategic approach to delivery

• Regular horizon scanning of environment including regulatory 
changes and priorities, reporting to each board meeting

• Covid-19 operational response surveys completed since 
March 2020

• Investment in current stock significantly 
increases, resulting in financial stress and/or 
impairment

• Regular, robust and transparent stress-testing of business plan 

• Horizon scanning for further information on significant policy 
changes

• Investment in new IT systems do not support 
transformation to modern styles of working as 
intended

• Robust management of the roll out of digital self-service and 
agile working

• Transparent monitoring and reporting of progress against our 
implementation plan

• Data integrity compromised due to a cyber-
security breach/fraud resulting in financial loss

• Government accredited cyber essentials compliance

• Segregation of duties to protect against payment fraud

• Breakdown in relationships with key business 
stakeholders and partners

• Annual communications and events plan

• Lack of affordable project finance available • Treasury management policy in place to identify, monitor and 
control risks

• Routine scanning of lenders and grant funding available using 
specialist treasury advisor

• Inadequate skills, competencies and behaviours • Regular Board skills audit, training programme and succession 
planning

• Development and training plans for staff

      



38

Introduction

We completed the third year of our Corporate Strategy 
in the year ending 31 March 2020. The Board have 
recently approved a new Strategy which seeks to 
address the points raised in our most recent Regulatory 
Judgement, which was published by the Regulator of 
Social Housing (RSH) in January 2020. The new 
Strategy is set for three years and has been developed 
during these unprecedented times to guide us through 
to 2023.  

Our new Strategy will ensure that VfM is embedded and 
we continue to operate efficiently and effectively and will 
be measured against seven strategic aims:

1. Build customer trust

2. Maximise our talent

3. Provide safe, high quality homes

4. Build financial capacity and resilience

5. Love the planet

6. Deliver digital first

7. Grow responsibly

For the year ended March 2020 we have continued to 
embed our VfM framework alongside the seven 
transformational actions of our current Corporate 
Strategy:

1. Grow commercial turnover and generate gift aid

2. Be an innovative housing provider

3. Deliver digital self-service internally and externally

4. Recruit and retain the best people to deliver our 
activity

5. Provide effective services

6. Use agile working 

7. Tell our story

Value for Money (VfM) 

Our progress in delivering these transformational 
actions has been monitored by the Board through a 
series of measurable targets based on outcomes, with 
VfM embedded.  We have made good progress. During 
the year we have progressed planning and funding 
applications for our two most recently secured 
regeneration schemes (Purfleet-on-Thames and Better 
Queensway in Southend-on-Sea). 

We have taken further steps towards delivering our 
services digitally with our new housing management 
system going live in July 2020 and the conclusion of a 
procurement process to deliver a new Group wide 
purchase to pay and enterprise resource planning 
system for our modular and construction activities.  

The Value for Money Standard 2018

The  standard  came into effect from 1 April 2018 and 
set out revised requirements with regards to value for 
money. This section of our annual report seeks to 
publish the required evidence to enable stakeholders to 
understand our performance against the regulators and 
our own VfM metrics, how that performance compares 
to peers and measurable plans to address any areas of 
underperformance, including clearly stating any areas 
where improvements would not be appropriate and the 
rationale for this. Specifically, the standard requires 
Registered Providers to demonstrate:  

• a robust approach to achieving VfM
• regular and appropriate consideration by the Board 

of potential value for money gains
• consideration of value for money across the whole 

business including non-social housing activity
• they have appropriate targets in place for measuring 

performance in achieving VfM in delivering their 
strategic objectives and that these are regularly 
monitored and reported
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Swan’s Value for Money Strategy            
2018 - 2021

For us, VfM means obtaining the best value from 
available resources to allow us to deliver better 
services, more homes and effective communities both 
in terms of quantity and quality and the social value 
provided.

The key elements to our approach are set out in our 
Strategy and in summary are to:

• have a clear Corporate Strategy which sets out our 
strategic objectives

• have a framework of strategies, plans, policies, 
processes and procedures that ensure optimal 
benefit is derived from resources and assets

• ensure we invest in the right assets, including 
human resources at the right price

• ensure our services and outputs are customer 
driven and that there is economic, efficient and 
effective delivery

• achieve the right outcomes, including social value 
which is at the heart of everything we do

• reinvest value for money gains so we can achieve 
more

VfM is embedded throughout the Group. The Board has 
overall responsibility for delivering the Value for Money 
Strategy and ensuring its principles are applied in the 
delivery of services, strategic planning and investment 
decisions.  

The Operations Committee agrees and monitors 
operational service reviews to drive continuous 
improvement. Appraisals for the delivery of new homes 
are considered by the Development Committee to 
ensure they align with our investment strategy and our 

Corporate Strategy ambitions.  The Audit & Risk 
Committee regularly ask our Internal Auditors to review 
our approach to VfM with the most recent audit in 
March 2019 providing ‘substantial assurance’ that VfM 
is embedded in the organisation.

Our customers have a key role in assessing and 
enhancing VfM.  The Residents’ Consultative 
Committees review performance on a monthly basis 
and are directly involved in the policy setting process.  
In addition, the Residents’ Scrutiny Panel carry out 
detailed service reviews and provide a sounding board 
for new VfM initiatives and service improvement 
programmes.

VfM is embedded throughout our decision-making 
process, strategies and policies. Our procurement, 
portfolio management, asset management, 
regeneration and development, people, treasury and 
social value and engagement strategies are all keys 
components in our overall approach to achieving VfM.

The Board, on the basis of the framework and the 
reporting below, is assured that Swan Housing 
Association meets the requirements of the 2018 VfM 
Standard.



40

Value for Money (cont.)

Swans'  approach to delivering Value for 
Money

We have continued to use our VfM framework, which is 
split into seven key areas of activity, to provide a 
structure for recording outcomes and testing whether 
the objectives of the strategy are being met.  

Value for Money achievements 

We have a clear Corporate Strategy and a robust 
approach to decision making through our Group 
Investment Framework that allows us to consider VfM 
across the whole business and ensure that we 
understand the risks and rewards of the activities we 
undertake.  We have a well-established framework and 
targets, including a balanced scorecard, that allows us 
to monitor and report our performance to the Board.  

The year in review has seen further achievements 
against the plans set out last year. A summary of these 
is included in each of the following sections.

Our key focus continues to be understanding our 
performance and costs relative to our peers and the 
sector as a whole.

Assessing comparative costs and 
performance

RSH Value for Money metrics

We analyse the Regulator's seven Value for Money 
financial metrics alongside our own additional metrics to 
measure our economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
enabling us to understand our performance and 
continuously test that value for money is embedded in 
all our decision making.

We consider the following factors together with our 
strategic objectives when reviewing the Regulator’s 
metrics:

• Actual performance trend
• Current year performance compared to the budget 

set by our Board
• Past, current and future performance compared to 

our peer group and the sector median

The first graphic for each metric below assists with our 
assessment against each of these factors: 

• Green bars show our actual performance over time.
• Yellow bars represent our budget for the current 

year and a projection for next year based on the 
business plan. 

• Pink and blue bars illustrate the March 2019 
weighted average of our peer group and the sector 
median respectively.

Our peer group is made up of 22 housing associations 
who are based in the East of England and London with 
between 5,000 and 20,000 homes.

managing our 
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return on 

assets

effective 
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The reinvestment % includes spend on new properties 
held as fixed assets i.e. social rent and shared 
ownership as well as capital works to existing homes. It 
excludes investment in properties built for sale. Our 
actual performance in March 2020 is significantly better 
than budget which assumed the social and shared 
ownership units at Peachy House, Cambridge Road and 
Blackwall Reach would be practically complete  in 
March 2019. However, delays predominantly linked to 
external cladding and additional works to ensure 
compliance with evolving changes to building 
regulations in respect of fire safety have led to increased 
expenditure this financial year. Our performance is 
ahead of the sector but below our peer group which 
includes a wider spread of outcomes for this metric, 
ranging from 2% to 14.7%, the median for our peer 
group is 7.1% which shows our performance is more 
comparable. The projected decrease next year is due to 
a lower spend on new properties and the deferral of 
some capital works due to Covid-19.

Metric 1: Reinvestment %
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Value for Money (cont.)

Our new supply metrics are subject to year on year 
fluctuations. This is driven by our approach, particularly 
on larger regeneration schemes, to build out mixed 
tenure developments in phases over several financial 
years. This year, in line with budget, we have delivered 
over 300 social units including 34 general needs units 
at Blackwall Reach, Tower Hamlet, 36 affordable at 
Peachy, Ilford and over 250 shared ownership units 
predominantly at Cambridge Road, Barking and 
Peachy.

Metric 2A: New supply delivered (social housing units) %
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We have delivered over 370 non-social units for private 
sale during the year. This is lower than budget due to a 
change in tenure to shared ownership for 30 units at 
Cambridge Road and the deferral of 36 private units 
into next financial year at Beechwood, Basildon. Our 
structure and strategy are predicated on delivering 
non-social housing units on mixed tenure development 
schemes to create cross subsidy for the affordable 
units. Through our investment framework we ensure the 
volume of non-social housing units remains within our 
risk appetite whilst striving to maximise the number of 
new homes we deliver.

Metric 2B: New supply delivered (non-social housing units) %
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Value for Money (cont.)

Our gearing has reduced during the year broadly in line 
with budget. Our business plan forecasts an increase 
next year but with a reducing trend to less than 50% by 
2025. Our debt includes project specific funding in 
subsidiary companies from both the GLA and Homes 
England. We understand our gearing levels are higher 
than our peers and sector. We are comfortable with this, 
as we regularly update and stress test our business 
plan to ensure we have sufficient resilience to withstand 
economic shocks. Our aim is to utilise our asset base in 
line with our risk appetite to maximise the provision of 
new homes and services.

Metric 3: Gearing %
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Whilst our interest cover is better than last year it is 
substantially lower than budget. The main driver of this 
variance is the deferral of over 200 private sales 
completions at Blackwall Reach and Cambridge Road 
into next financial year following the delays noted 
above. 

Whilst all the units were practically complete at year 
end, we prudently account for sales and therefore 
surpluses on legal completion. These outstanding sales 
are all expected to complete in the first half on the new 
financial year as the country slowly comes out of 
lockdown. The related surpluses from these delayed 
sales are reflected in the March 2021 projection which 
is broadly in line with the sector and ahead of our peer 
group. 

We expect this metric to vary year on year compared to 
our peers and the sector. This is primarily due to 
planned fluctuations in the number of private and 
shared ownership sales from our development 
programme. We understand and stress test this 
variability in our business plan to ensure we are 
optimising our earnings whilst managing and mitigating 
our sales risk.

Metric 4: EBITDA MRI Interest Cover %
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Our headline social housing cost per unit trend shows a 
small increase over the last 3 years and is slightly higher 
than budget this year. The reduction in March 2021 is 
mainly due to a combination of saved and deferred costs 
in relation to Covid-19. The key drivers of the increasing 
trend in our actuals are analysed in more detail below, 
the primary factor being a strategic decision to increase 
our investment in existing housing stock. 

It is important to note that our social housing costs over 
the last 3 years include (average annual cost included in 
brackets):

• A PFI contract in Forest Gate (c£6m)
• Supporting people contracts (c£2.5m)
• Services to joint ventures (c£0.3m)
• ACM cladding replacement costs including a net 

provision of £4.9m

The impact of excluding these costs along with the 
associated units managed under the PFI contract is 
illustrated on the next page.

Metric 5: Headline social housing cost per unit
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The revised social housing cost per unit is more 
comparable with our peer group, but we remain above 
the sector median and show an increasing trend 
excluding the Covid-19 related decrease in March 2021. 

The rationale for this trend and the cost drivers have 
been reviewed in depth and are well understood by our 
Board. They represent a targeted and controlled 
investment towards delivering our strategic objectives.

There are 3 key areas contributing to the increasing 
trend, namely: 

1. The largest is our investment in existing stock and 
is the main cause of the variance to budget this 
year. We see this investment as a key strand to 
building trust with our customers, whilst being 
crucial to maintaining  high standards and future 
proofing our housing stock by improving 
sustainability and energy efficiency performance.

2. In line with our digital transformation ambitions we 
have invested and continue to invest in new 
technology to facilitate a more agile workforce and 
delivery of services. In the year ending March 2021 
an additional £0.5m of depreciation in relation to 
this investment is contributing to our cost per unit 
increase. This outlay has already started to repay 
itself during the Covid-19 lockdown. The majority of 
our staff were able to work remotely utilising the 
new technology allowing us to maintain core 
services without the need to furlough any roles. 
Further efficiencies are targeted from replacing our 
housing management system, which went live in 
July 2020 and a new purchase to pay system in the 
coming years.

3. In 2018 we implemented a new reward model for 
our staff to support our objective of retaining the 
best people to deliver our services, this included 
benchmarking salaries and an improved pension 
offer. These initiatives have increased our cost base 
with the aim of improving the engagement of our 
most important asset, our staff. 

Positive impact of excluding PFI, Supported, JV and ACM 
costs from social housing cost per unit metric
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Our social housing lettings operating margin is slightly 
lower than last year and budget due to the increased 
investment in our existing stock as noted above. 
However, our performance continues to outperform our 
peer group and the sector, this is primarily due to this 
measure excluding the Group's indirect overhead costs.

We consider this approach to be appropriate given the 
breadth of activities we undertake. The red line on the 
graph above shows the impact of including these 
overheads in the margin and results in a more 
comparable performance to our peers, but still ahead of 
the sector benchmark. It should be noted that this 
adjustment would have a negative impact on our 
management cost per unit within metric 5.

Metric 6A: Operating Margin (social housing lettings) %
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Overall operating margin has fallen to 17.3% in March 
2020 which was slightly lower than the budget set for 
this year. The key driver for the decrease is the volume 
of private (£80.3m) and shared ownership first tranche 
(£16.3m) sales, which deliver a lower margin relative to 
the returns generated from social housing lettings. 
These private and shared ownership sales make up 
over 55% of the Group's total turnover this financial 
year compared to just 9% last financial year. Our 
investment framework ensures the returns on our mixed 
tenure developments are commensurate with the risks 
and all surpluses on private sales continue to be gift 
aided to the Association. 

Metric 6B: Operating Margin (overall) %
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Return on capital employed remains marginally below 
the sector and our peer group. As with the margin % 
metrics this measure will also fluctuate in line with our 
development programme and business plan. The main 
reason for the variance to budget this financial year is 
the deferral of private sales into next financial year as 
noted above for Metric 4.

Value for Money (cont.)

Metric 7: Return on capital employed %
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Swan’s bespoke Value for Money Metrics

In addition to the Regulator’s metrics we also track the 
following measures to monitor the efficient and effective 
delivery of our strategic aims and objectives.

• New homes pipeline
• Cumulative profits from commercial activities
• Key loan covenants - debt per unit and interest 

cover 
• Customer satisfaction
• Operational – arrears and voids 
• Employee engagement

New homes pipeline

Our new homes pipeline is a key metric when 
monitoring our target to deliver 2,000 new homes 
between 2017 and 2022.

We completed 70 new social, 257 shared ownership 
and 375 private homes this year, taking our cumulative 
total to 810 since 2017.

As at 31 March 2020 we had 696 units on site and in 
progress and our committed pipeline of new homes was 
1,028 of which 496 were social housing units. Whilst we 
closed our development sites at the start of lockdown in 
March 2020 we were able to, in adherence with 
Government guidelines, continue production in our 
modular factor which has partially mitigated the impact 
of Covid-19 on delivering our pipeline. All of our sites 
were re-opened following a phased approach which 
commenced during May 2020.

When our uncommitted, joint venture and pipeline 
schemes are considered we have 6,886 units in our 
pipeline.

New homes pipeline Committed Uncommitted Joint Venture Pipeline Total 

Social housing 121 214 300 260 895

Shared ownership 375 423 351 518 1,667

Non-social housing 532 222 1,973 1,597 4,324

1,028 859 2,624 2,375 6,886
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Value for Money (cont.)

Swan’s bespoke value for money metrics 
(cont.)

Cumulative profits from our commercial activities

Cumulative profits from our commercial activities which 
commenced in 2011, stood at £80.2 million at March 
2020. We are forecasting further profits from these 
activities of £32.7m over the next 3 years. This profit is 
a key source of finance to deliver our Corporate 
Strategy as it will be gift aided to the Housing 
Association and reinvested in existing customers and 
new developments.

Cumulative Profit from Commercial Activity
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Key loan covenants - debt per unit and interest 
cover 

Our debt per unit and interest cover covenants are key 
to our business planning. Our current and planned 
covenant levels based on our latest business plan 
demonstrate ongoing compliance.

Customer Satisfaction

Our Corporate Strategy sets out an ambition to provide 
effective services and customer satisfaction remains a 
key measurement to achieve this. We continue to use 
Housemark to benchmark our performance against 
other housing providers, so we can see how our 
performance compares, identify areas for improvement 
and set future targets. At the time of publication, the 
2019/20 benchmark data was not available so we have 
used the 2018/19 median figures to compare 
performance with our peer group.

We have retained the same peer group as last year, 
which includes organisations from London and the 
Eastern regions with a stock size between 5,000 and 
15,000 units. The number of landlords participating in 
the group has reduced year on year, with our group 
currently at a maximum of 26 organisations, with not all 
participants submitting data for all the metrics we 
analyse.

Our satisfaction with overall service provided reduced  
from 79.8% last year to 78% for the year ended March 
2020. Whilst this is comparable with the sector median, 
we are not complacent and have a clear service 
improvement plan in place with a range of initiatives to 

improve satisfaction levels. We expect our new housing 
management system and customer portal, which has 
gone live in 2020, to deliver digital self-service options 
to our tenants and leaseholders which will make their 
ability to transact with us easier and more effective.

Operational – Arrears and Voids 

Our areas performance remains strong and at 1.96% at 
31 March 2020 is below 2% for the second year running 
which is significantly below the peer group median of 
4.4%. Despite this we continue to invest in resource to 
support our residents to mitigate the impact of welfare 
reforms and most recently the impact of the Covid-19 
lockdown.

Our operational voids performance has increased from 
13.8 days last year to 14.5 days at 31 March 2020. 
Compared to our peer group median of 23.9 days our 
record is good and we continue to work closely with 
local authority partners to reduce waiting lists.

Employee Engagement 

We measure the engagement of our staff through the 
Sunday Times Top 100 best not for profit companies to 
work for. We were delighted to retain our 2-star rating in 
February 2020, this was our 5th consecutive year in the 
top 100 and fourth consecutive in the top 40. We 
recognise that retaining and recruiting the best staff is 
crucial for us to deliver our People Strategy. We 
continue to invest in training and have placed additional 
focus on the health and wellbeing of our employees this 
year.

Key loan covenants 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Interest cover  
(minimum 110%) 

168% 189% 188% 273% 330% 204%

Debt per unit  
(maximum £55,000) 

49,587 47,446 47,015 49,318 46,059 47,418
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Value for Money (cont.)

Maximising our return on assets

Our Asset Management and Portfolio Management 
Strategies alongside our Group Investment Framework 
remain key to how we invest in our stock and maximise 
the return on the properties we own. Our Asset 
Management Strategy sets out how we plan to increase 
our investment to improve our existing housing stock 
over the next five years to ensure that they are safe and 
of a high standard. 

The table below sets out the ‘return on housing property 
assets’ for our main stock types. The lower return on 
General Needs is due to a further 1% rent reduction in 
the current year and higher repairs and maintenance 
costs. The Shared Ownership return is impacted by the 

significant increase in net book value during the year. 
The 87% increase is due to new handovers at Peachy 
House and Cambridge Road where we will not see a 
full year of rental income until next year. The NHS 
return is slightly better this year and in line with 
expectation.

Our Portfolio Management Strategy provides a 
framework within which decisions can be made on 
stock rationalisation. During the year we disposed of a 
further 10 units in North Essex as planned and we 
continue to assess the financial viability of our 
properties to make informed decisions about whether to 
dispose, swap, or change tenure type.

During the next year we will continue our programme to 
maintain 100% decent homes.

Return on Housing
Property Assets

2019/20 2018/19

Operating 
Surplus

Value of 
Assets*

Return on 
Assets % 

Operating 
Surplus

Value of 
Assets*

Return on 
Assets % 

£k £k £k £k

General Needs 24,999 597,778 4.2% 26,326 580,393 4.5%

Shared Ownership 1,141 94,285 1.2% 1,135 50,442 2.3%

NHS Keyworker 1,603 42,625 3.8% 1,450 44,274 3.3%

* Value of Assets based on UK GAAP including FRS102 net book value which is cost less depreciation and excluding grant received
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Effective Procurement

Our Procurement Strategy is designed to ensure the 
services we procure are economic, efficient and 
effective.

We have a long-term partnership with Axis Europe for 
all our standard repairs and maintenance activities 
which allows for longer term service planning and a 
commitment to continuous improvement in both service 
delivery and efficiency. 

Our revised approach to recruitment, led by a new 
talent acquisition post, has delivered significant costs 
savings. In the first year of this new model we have 
estimated a saving in the region of £250k on external 
fees.

During the year with have re-procured the following:

• Mobile communications 
• Hygiene services
• Office stationary

We also appointed a software provider, following a full 
OJEU process, to supply and develop a replacement 
purchase to pay system for the Group along with 
enterprise resource planning functionality for our 
manufacturing and construction activities.

In 2020/21 we plan to re-procure the following services 
targeting value for money savings where possible:

• External audit
• Electronic payments and
• Payroll

Furthermore, the new consultant’s framework for our 
construction supply chain and legal services are 
expected to deliver VfM gains over the coming years as 
we leverage the benefit of our dynamic purchasing 
solution.

Managing our Finances

We continue to adopt a zero-based approach to budget 
setting, so we ensure our spending plans for the year 
ahead are aligned to our Corporate Strategy and 
operational plans. Our performance against budget is 
reviewed monthly with budget holders and at every 
Board meeting to ensure we are transparent with our 
financial reporting both operationally and strategically.

Our structure and systems were sufficiently agile to 
facilitate a full re-cast of the 2020/21 budget in 
response to Covid-19. We identified £5.7m of cash 
savings from the Board approved operational budget for 
2020/21 as part of our swift action to mitigate the 
financial impact of the pandemic. This included £4m on 
non-essential repairs and maintenance, £0.8m on staff 
related costs, £0.3m on professional fees with the 
balance being made up by a range of other 
discretionary spend categories included within the 
original budget. 

Planning our Funding

Our Treasury Strategy ensures we understand our 
future funding requirements, so we can allocate 
resources to deliver our Corporate Strategy as 
effectively as possible by minimising borrowing costs 
and our exposure to the risks of refinancing and interest 
rate rises. 

During the year we issued £25m of our retained bond, 
at a yield of 2.74%, which raised total proceeds of over 
£29.0m. This additional liquidity ensures our medium-
term plans and refinancing requirements are fully 
funded.

The Group Investment Strategy ensures we have a 
standardised approach to appraising new investments 
across the Group, so projects can be appraised on a 
consistent basis and the opportunity cost of investment 
decisions can be considered.
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Value for Money (cont.)

Planning our Funding (cont.)

We update our 30-year business plan annually and 
have reviewed our approach to stress testing following 
the feedback provided by the Regulator during their 
recent in-depth assessment. Through single and 
multivariate scenarios and sensitivity analysis we 
understand the risks we are exposed to across the 
Group and have plans in place to mitigate the impact 
should those risks materialise.

Investment in development and new 
business

We see investment in our development and new 
business activities as a key part of our Corporate 
Strategy. Through this activity we can contribute to 
much needed housing supply across all tenure types 
and reinvest the additional resources generated to 
support both our existing and future customers.

During the last year we have experienced further delays 
at Cambridge Road and Blackwall Reach Phase 1b. 
Construction delays have been predominantly related to 
the installation of external cladding and, in part, due to 
unprecedented changes to building regulations 
particularly in relation to fire safety. 

We have worked closely with the building control and 
fire authorities to ensure our new buildings are fully 
compliant with the revised regulations during the year. 
The delays to completion have resulted in the deferral 
of some sales into next financial year which was partly 
exacerbated by the Covid-19 lockdown which began 
during March. 

As a result, our return on commercial activities, whilst 
lower than budgeted this year was £10m. This return 
will be gift aided back to the Housing Association so it 
can be reinvested. It should also be noted that most of 
the surplus shortfall to budget will be realised in the new 
financial year albeit the additional costs of the delays 
and the impact of Covid-19 will reduce the overall 
return.

In this financial year we have invested over £80m in 
development and regeneration activities, completing 
over 70 new social/affordable rent, 258 shared 
ownership and 378 for private homes.

Our off-site manufacturing facility was approaching 
optimum capacity by the end of the financial year.

During the next year we will generate £6.7m from our 
commercial activities which includes the deferred sales 
noted above. We plan to complete 64 shared 
ownership, 18 affordable and 36 private sale homes. 

Our latest business plan demonstrates a reduced 
exposure to the housing market and the related private 
sales risks over the coming years. This is due to a 
significant increase in the proportion of affordable 
housing units in our pipeline, which has been facilitated 
by securing strategic partnerships with both Homes 
England and the GLA.
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Improving our services through resident 
and service user involvement

Our customers are at the heart of everything we do.  
This year we published our new ‘Count Me in Strategy’, 
setting out our commitment to resident involvement, 
developing sustainable communities and meeting our 
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR objectives). 

This strategy and our performance improvement 
framework ensure that we seek to champion our 
residents’ voice and build community cohesion, by 
empowering residents to be more active in their local 
communications. We continue to conduct a detailed 
review of services and have a robust process through 
our London and Essex Resident Consultative 
Committees (RCCs) for residents to set priorities, 
challenge performance and participate in decision 
making and have a framework for continual service 
improvement. During this year our Resident Scrutiny 
Panel reviewed our services relating to customer 
recharges and resident involvement opportunities.

We also strive to provide a strategic and co-ordinated 
approach to employment and training that enables us to 
develop a Swan ‘offer’ for residents. 

During the year we reviewed our income collection 
service and how our customers communicate with us 
and launched ‘live chat’ for customers to raise queries 
and receive an almost instant reply. We also retained 
our Customer Service Excellence accreditation during 
the year.

Our ‘Summer Conversations’ surveys focused on our 
main six estates, asking residents what is important to 
them and how they feel about Swan and the services 
we provide.

During the next year we intend to continue to remodel 
our front-line services as part of the implementation of 
our new housing management system and new 
customer portal. This will include helping our customers 
migrate to our new digital channels and monitoring their 
feedback on how easy they find doing business with us.

Based on the evidence set out above the Board is 
assured that Swan Housing Association Limited 
meets the requirements of the 2018 VfM Standard.

Approved by the Board on 15 September 2020 and 
signed on its behalf by:

John Synnuck                                                            
Chief Executive
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Corporate Governance

At the end of the financial year, the Parent Board 
(‘Board’) comprised eight members, six of whom are 
Non-Executive Board Members and the balance Swan 
Executive Directors.

In accordance with the requirements of the Governance 
and Financial Viability Standard, the Association is 
required to adopt and comply with an appropriate code 
of governance. Swan has adopted the sector specific 
National Housing Federation’s 2015 Governance Code: 
Promoting Board Excellence for Housing Associations 
and the National Housing Federation’s 2012 Code of 
Conduct. The Association has not identified any areas 
of non-compliance for the financial year.

In accordance with the underlying “comply or explain” 
principle of such codes, this section of the report seeks 
to provide detail about:

• The Board and its Role
• Board Effectiveness
• Relations with Stakeholders
• How the Board Operates

The Board is committed to adherence to such codes 
and to high standards of conduct. Following its regular 
review, it can again report compliance with the codes 
during the year. 

The Board and its Role

Swan Housing Association Limited is a Registered 
Society under the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014. The Rules of the Association remain 
its principal document of constitution and regulate 
various matters including the Board, its powers and its 
role. The Board has adopted Standing Orders, Scheme 
of Delegations and Financial Regulations and has in 
place Committee Terms of Reference and an intra-
Group agreement to further formalise and regulate 
matters between the Parent, and the Group's 
Committees and subsidiaries. These documents are 

subject to regular review and updated upon relevant 
regulatory or legislative changes. 

Swan Housing Association Limited and its largest 
commercial subsidiary, Swan New Homes Limited 
operate an ‘overlapped' Board structure which is 
intended to best integrate the Group's governance 
arrangements. Its main purpose is to ensure that 
decision making is as cohesive, efficient and effective 
as it can be and ensure that the Group can best operate 
with a shared purpose and vision, with parent oversight 
at all times. Both Boards have an independent Board 
Member, who can only sit on one Board, this is to 
ensure independence on the overlapped Board 
structure. 

The Board's role is to provide strategic direction and to 
govern, control and scrutinise the Association’s and the 
Group's operations. Changes in Board membership 
during the year are detailed on page 3 of these 
Financial Statements. During the financial year the 
Group recruited a new Member, namely Jane Bristow, 
to strengthen the consumer aspect on the Board. Jane 
was formally appointed to the Board from 1 November 
2019. Marie Li Mow Ching retired from her position as a 
non-executive Board Member on 31 October 2019, 
Jamie Smith resigned on 31 March 2020 and Geoff 
Pearce was appointed on 7 May 2020.

The Board and its Committees comprise members from 
a diverse range of backgrounds and with the range of 
skills, knowledge and experiences appropriate for their 
needs. Membership of the Board and its mix of skills, 
knowledge and experience remains appropriate for the 
Group's needs. Profiles of the non-executive Board 
members can be viewed on Swan Housing Association 
Limited’s website (www.swan.org.uk). 

Board membership is usually for two three-year terms 
with a further three-year extension possible only in 
exceptional circumstances. 

Board members have formal service agreements and 
are expected to devote the necessary time to prepare 
for and attend all Board meetings and the meetings of 
those Committees of which they are members, together 

Report of the Board
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below in the section ‘How the Board Operates’. The 
operations of the Association are regulated primarily by 
the Regulator of Social Housing, but also in part by the 
Care Quality Commission, and the Board pays 
particular interest to regulatory reporting. As noted 
above, occasionally the Board has the opportunity to 
meet tenants and service users and obtains feedback 
from various tenant facing bodies including the resident 
scrutiny panel, which is not a Committee of the Board. 

Relations with employees are managed through the 
Executive Directors and through an Employee 
Representative Committee. Relations with funders are 
also primarily managed through the Executive Directors. 

How the Board Operates 

The Board’s Standing Orders, Scheme of Delegations, 
Code of Conduct and Financial Regulations codify 
various matters for the better operation of the Group's 
business and within which it expressly reserves 
specified significant matters for its sole decision. The 
Board meets regularly and has established a number of 
Committees to which the Board has delegated certain 
responsibilities under formal Terms of Reference. The 
Board also meets with the Executive Directors regularly 
during the year.

The Board has continued to meet bi-monthly during the 
year. The Committees, other than the Remuneration 
and Appointments Committee, have also met four or 
five times each. The meetings held during the year and 
the attendance of individual members at each is 
detailed on page 60. Each entry is displayed as a 
fraction, which has the number of meetings actually 
attended as the numerator and the number of meetings 
held and which could have been attended as the 
denominator. Board and Committee members have 
on-line access via a Board portal to all papers for the 
appropriate meetings and hence can access them even 
if they have made notification that they are unable to 
attend. Membership of Committees will continue to be 
reviewed and determined annually by the Board of 
Swan Housing Association Limited, as Parent. Some 
Committee appointments involve independent non-
Board members. 

 

with appropriate training, appraisal and other review 
meetings. Members are paid as detailed in the Board 
Remuneration section on pages 61 & 62.

The Group maintains directors’ and officers’ liability 
insurance for its Board members, Committee members 
and officers, which is renewed annually. The Board is 
given access to independent professional advice at the 
Group's expense when the Board so requires.

Board Effectiveness

The Board receives regular updates on the performance 
of the Group's businesses, the legal and the regulatory 
environments in which they operate and developments 
in their sectors through briefings included in Board 
papers or other presentations.

The Board completed its annual review of combined 
and individual member performance during the year. 
The outcomes from this process have been captured on 
the Board’s governance plan. Progress will be closely 
monitored by the Board. The Board from time to time 
gathers together for training and development activity 
and to consider wider issues such as succession 
planning. Individual members may undertake training or 
development activity as identified by them or in their 
annual evaluations. 

The Board tours locations of the Group, enabling it to 
meet tenants and other service users, at least annually, 
and any new Board or Committee members have 
already undertaken, or will be undertaking, this tour as 
part of their induction process.

Relations with Stakeholders

The principal stakeholders of the Group are its tenants, 
service users, employees, local authorities, the Greater 
London Authority, the Regulator of Social Housing in 
respect of its regulatory activity, Homes England in 
respect of its investment activity and funders. Tenants 
are represented through the Board’s Operations 
Committee, the responsibilities of which are detailed 
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Valerie Owen OBE (Swan HA Chair) 6/6 1/1

Peter Baynham (Vice Chair) 6/6 5/5 1/1

Marie Li Mow Ching (retired 31/10/19) 4/4 3/3

John Synnuck 6/6

Jamie Smith (resigned 31/03/20) 6/6

Steve Akeju 5/6 4/4 1/1

Elizabeth Sipiere 6/6 5/5 1/1

Devan Bala 6/6 5/5 1/1

Jane Bristow (appointed 01/11/19) 2/2 2/2

Committee members who are not Board members:

Glyn Kyle 5/5

Peter Brooks 5/5

Darren Coan (retired 30/10/19) 3/3

Michelle Richards (retired 30/10/19) 3/3

Ralph Luck (retired 30/10/19) 2/2

Aleksandra Morshed (retired 06/02/20) 3/4

Doug McCann 5/5

Kobirul Islam 5/5

Hugh Titcomb 5/5

Simon Hardwick 4/4

Simon Harden (Chair of SNH Board) 4/4

Rod Lamb (appointed 01/11/19) 2/2

Mayuri Parmar (appointed (01/11/19) 2/2

Beverley Neufville (appointed 10/02/20) 1/1

Phillippa Cardno (appointed 01/11/19) 3/3

Claire O’Shaughnessy (appointed 01/11/19) 3/3

      

Report of the Board (cont.)
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A brief overview of the constitution of the Committees is 
given below. Other panels and working groups are 
formed as considered appropriate to deal with particular 
issues as they arise.

Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee consists of four 
members, two of whom are Board members, currently 
Devan Bala (Chair) and Peter Baynham and two 
independent members, Hugh Titcomb and Doug 
McCann. It plans to meet at least four times per year. It 
receives reports from the external and internal auditors 
and reviews the processes for audit and risk 
management. The Committee is chaired by a member 
of the Board, who is not the Chair of the Board of Swan 
Housing Association Limited.

Remuneration and Appointments 
Committee

This Committee comprises of the Vice Chair (as 
Committee Chair), the Board Chair and two other 
Members of Swan Housing Association Limited Board. 
During the year 2019/20 the members of the Committee 
were Peter Baynham (Committee Chair), Valerie Owen, 
Elizabeth Sipiere (until 31/10/19), Devan Bala and Jane 
Bristow (with effect from 01/11/19).

It continues to meet at least annually and considers 
Board structure and appointments, the working 
arrangements and remuneration of the Board, Chief 
Executive and Executive Directors. The Committee is 
chaired by a member of the Board who is not the Chair 
of the Board of Swan Housing Association Limited.

Operations Committee

The Operations Committee focuses on all aspects of 
the effective and efficient operational delivery of the 
Group's services, ensuring feedback from tenants and 
other service users and promoting high standards. The 
Committee comprises eight members, two from the 
main Board, currently Elizabeth Sipiere (Chair) and 
Jane Bristow, four residents namely, Kobirul Islam, Rod 

Lamb, Mayuri Parmar and Beverley Neufville and two 
independents, Glyn Kyle, and Peter Brooks. The 
Committee meets at least four times per year.

Development Committee

This Committee oversees the Group's development of 
new homes and explores and oversees new business 
streams or initiatives, outside the core Association 
housing rental and care service businesses. It also 
reviews the Group's growth and investment strategies 
in relation to the manufacture of modular housing and 
monitors the performance of the Group's modular 
factory. The Committee comprises up to five members, 
two from the main Board namely Steve Akeju (Chair) 
and Simon Harden (Chair of Swan New Homes Board) 
and three independents, namely Simon Hardwick, 
Phillippa Cardno and Claire O’Shaughnessy. It meets at 
least four times per year.

Declarations of Interest

All Board and Committee members are required to 
declare any interests annually and otherwise at 
meetings where potential issues may arise. Individuals 
with a relevant interest are required to leave the 
meeting, unless requested otherwise by the Board/
Committee membership, and in any event do not vote 
on the issue concerned. A Conflicts of Interest Policy is 
in place and reviewed on a regular basis. 

Board Remuneration

The Board has determined, following independent 
advice and benchmarking, that it is appropriate, and 
continues to be appropriate, that Board members 
should be paid for their time and dedication. Committee 
members who are not Board members also receive 
fees for their services. The annual fees paid to Board 
members in position during the year are set out below. 
In addition, Board members are reimbursed for any 
expenses incurred in carrying out their duties and in 
attending Board or Committee meetings. The 
remuneration of those Board members who are also 
Executive Directors is shown in note 5 to the financial 
statements.
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Report of the Board (cont.)

Non-Executive Board Members: £

Valerie Owen (Chair) 22,500

Peter Baynham (Vice Chair) 14,500 

Marie Li Mow Ching (retired 31/10/19) 7,102

Steve Akeju 12,250

Simon Harden (Chair SNH Board) 10,750

Elizabeth Sipiere 10,750

Devan Bala 10,750

Jane Bristow (appointed 1/11/19) 4,479

Non-Executive Board Members Total 93,081

Committee Members who are not Board Members: £

Glyn Kyle 5,375

Peter Brooks 5,375

Darren Coan (retired 30/10/19) 3,116

Michelle Richards (retired 30/10/19) 3,116

Ralph Luck (retired 30/10/19) 3,116

Doug McCann 5,375

Aleksandra Morshed (retired 06/02/20) 4,121

Simon Hardwick                                                                                                                                        5,375

Kobirul Islam                                                                                                             5,375

Hugh Titcomb 5,375

Beverley Neufville (appointed 10/02/20) 1,232

Phillippa Cardno (appointed 1/11/19) 2,240

Claire O’Shaughnessy (appointed 1/11/19) 2,240

Rod Lamb (appointed 1/11/19) 2,240

Mayuri Parmar (appointed 1/11/19) 2,240

Committee Members Total 55,911

Non-Executive Board and Committee Members Total 148,992

The total amount paid above represents 0.1% (2019: 0.2%) of the Group annual turnover.
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Board’s statement on the annual review of 
the effectiveness of the Group's internal 
control systems

The Board has continued to place emphasis on the 
Regulator of Social Housing’s (RSH) Regulatory 
Framework which has applied since April 2015. 
Following a routine In Depth Assessment during the 
year the Regulator of Social Housing revised Swan 
Housing Association Limited’s Governance grading 
from G1 to G2, whilst maintaining its Viability grading at 
V2. The revised rating of G2 is a compliant grade, with 
some aspects of improvement highlighted by the 
Regulator. As a result of this, the Board have developed 
a G2 to G1 improvement action plan which will be 
reviewed at every Board meeting, with the aim of 
regaining G1 status. 

Going Concern

The Board has a reasonable expectation that the Group 
has adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future and for this reason 
has continued to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the Group financial statements (refer to note 
2 of the financial statements for further details including 
Covid-19 and Brexit).

Statement of Compliance

In accordance with the requirements of the Accounting 
Direction for private registered providers of social 
housing (2019), the Board certify that Swan Housing 
Association Limited has complied with the RSH’s 
Governance and Financial Viability Standard.

In preparing the Strategic Report and this Report of the 
Board, the Board has followed the principles set out in 
the Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting 
for registered social housing providers (‘SORP 2018’).

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility, 
applicable to all organisations within the Group, for 
establishing and maintaining the whole system of 
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. 

The system of internal control is designed to manage, 
rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives, and to provide reasonable 
assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

The process for identifying, evaluating and managing 
the significant risks faced by the Group is ongoing, has 
been in place throughout the period commencing 1 April 
2019 up to the date of approval of the report and 
financial statements.

Key elements of the control framework include:

• Board approved terms of reference and delegated 
authorities for Board Committees;

• clearly defined management responsibilities for the 
identification, evaluation and control of significant 
risks;

• robust strategic and business planning processes, 
with detailed financial budgets and forecasts;

• formal recruitment, retention, training and 
development policies for all staff;

• established authorisation and appraisal procedures 
for significant new initiatives and commitments;

• a sophisticated approach to treasury management 
which is subject to review each year;

• regular reporting to the appropriate Committee on 
key business objectives, targets and outcomes;

• Board approved whistleblowing, anti-bribery, 
anti-theft and corruption policies;

• Board approved Financial Regulations, including 
anti-fraud policy, covering prevention, detection and 
reporting, together with recoverability of assets; and

• regular monitoring of loan covenants and 
requirements for new loan facilities.

The Group currently has various systems in place to 
record its assets and liabilities and these are reviewed 
and monitored regularly to ensure that the main register 
is kept up to date.
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Audit and Risk Committee

The Board has a designated Group Audit and Risk 
Committee. The meetings are attended by the Group 
Finance Director, Senior Finance Staff and other 
Directors, Board or Committee members as required.

This Committee is responsible for reviewing the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's systems of 
internal controls and reporting its conclusions to the 
Board, receiving reports from both the internal and 
external auditors. 

Internal Audit Function

The Group purchases an internal audit service. This 
work has been carried out in accordance with the 
Institute of Internal Auditors’ Standards and Guidance.

The internal auditor reports annually to the Group Audit 
and Risk Committee on the system of internal controls, 
with an opinion as to the adequacy and effectiveness of 
key internal control systems. The internal auditor attends 
the Group Audit and Risk Committee to present reports 
and to report on management progress in implementing 
agreed recommendations. 

The internal audit is planned, based on the results of a 
risk-based audit needs assessment. A rolling programme 
is undertaken to cover the whole of the Group's system 
of control.

External Audit

The work of the external auditor has been conducted in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing 
(UK) and their audit opinion is contained within these 
financial statements. 

Any material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in 
internal controls identified during the course of the audit 
are reported to the Group's Audit and Risk Committee 
and an action plan to address the weakness is agreed. 
No material control weaknesses have been identified 
during the year.

Auditor

The auditor, Grant Thornton UK LLP, will be deemed to 
be re-appointed in accordance with section 93 of the 
Co-Operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 
2014.

Health and Safety 

The health and safety of our staff and residents 
continues to be of paramount importance. Staff 
completion of mandatory courses around health and 
safety, regular meetings of our cross group health and 
safety committee and our executive level health and 
safety committee chaired by the Chief Executive 
together with the use of the award winning Safety Bank 
software have all continued to support a culture of 
health and safety across the Group. The Board review 
health and safety at every meeting and receive a formal 
update report every six months that considers matters 
such as accidents and incidents, fire safety and 
servicing compliance. 

The Group continues to have in place various measures 
to reassure residents regarding fire safety and we have 
followed all of the advice issued by the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities & Local Government. Two of our 
developments have limited amounts of Aluminium 
Composite Material (ACM). The Group is working with 
the contractors who installed the cladding on a 
programme to remove and replace the materials. A net 
£3.3m provision (2019: £3.4m) has been taken for 
future work which is expected to commence this 
financial year. See note 20 for further details.

Report of the Board (cont.)
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Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI)

The Group has met the Chartered Institute of Housing’s 
10 ‘Leading Diversity by 2020’ challenges. In August 
2019, we retained our Housing Diversity Network (HDN) 
accreditation for excellence in equality and diversity 
with eight distinctions for good practice including:

• A strong corporate culture which views diversity as 
a strength, and is centred around improving 
performance and driving the organisation forward in 
terms of EDI

• An Executive Team member for diversity who 
ensures that EDI issues are considered at a 
strategic level as well as providing an external focus 
and ambassadorial role

• HR policies on work-life balance, flexible working 
and skills development are a strength and 
encourage people to stay with the organisation

As at 31 March 2020:

• 38% of our Board and Executive Team and 57% of 
our total workforce are women

• 15% of our Board and Executive Team and 20% of 
our total workforce are BAME (Black / Asian / 
Minority Ethnic)

• the age profile of our total workforce shows 54% 
were aged 25 to 44, with 38% aged 45 and over 
and 8% under 25

• the age profile of the Board and Executive team 
showed 77% aged 45 to 64, 15% over 65 and 8% 
aged 25 to 44

38%
of our Board and Executive 
Team are women

57%
of our total workforce are 
women

15%
of our Board and Executive 
Team are BAME (Black / Asian 
/ Minority Ethnic)

20%
of our total workforce are 
BAME (Black / Asian / Minority 
Ethnic)

under 25under 25 25 - 4425 - 44 45 and over45 and over

Age profile of our total workforce

>8% 54% 38%
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Statement of Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for preparing the report and 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and regulations.

Co-Operative and Community Benefit Society legislation 
requires the Board to prepare financial statements for 
each financial year. Under that law the Board have 
elected to prepare the financial statements in 
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards and applicable laws, including FRS102, “The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland”). Under the Co-Operative and 
Community Benefit Society legislation the Board must 
not approve the financial statements unless they are 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs and surplus or deficit of the Association and 
Group for that period. In preparing these financial 
statements, the Board are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently;

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards 
and the Statement of Recommended Practice 
(SORP) Accounting by Registered Housing Providers 
2018, have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the Group and Association will continue in 
business.

The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the Group and Association 
and enable it to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with the Co-Operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 
2008 and the Accounting Direction for Private Registered 
Providers of Social Housing (January 2019). It is also 

responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group 
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities.

The Board is responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the Group's websites. Legislation in the 
United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

In so far as each of the Board members is aware:

• there is no relevant audit information of which the 
Group's auditor is unaware; and

• the Board members have taken all steps that they 
ought to have taken to make themselves aware of 
any relevant audit information and to establish that 
the auditor is aware of that information.

Approved by the Board on 15 September 2020 and 
signed on its behalf by:

John Synnuck                                                            
Chief Executive

Report of the Board (cont.)
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Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Swan 
Housing Association Limited (the ‘Parent Society’) and 
its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) for the year ended 31 
March 2020, which comprise the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Association 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated 
Statement of Changes in Reserves, the Association 
Statement of Changes in Reserves, the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position, the Association 
Statement of Financial Position, the Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards 
including Financial Reporting Standard 102; The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's 
and Parent Society's affairs as at 31 March 2020 
and of the Group's and Parent Society's income and 
expenditure for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the 
Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 
2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008, and 
the Accounting Direction for Private Registered 
Providers of Social Housing 2019.

Basis for opinion

We have been appointed as auditor under the Co-
operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 
and report in accordance with regulations made under 
that Act.  We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) 
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ 
section of our report. We are independent of the Society 

in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the 
UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.

The impact of macro-economic 
uncertainties on our audit 

Our audit of the financial statements requires us to 
obtain an understanding of all relevant uncertainties, 
including those arising as a consequence of the effects 
of macro-economic uncertainties such as Covid-19 and 
Brexit. All audits assess and challenge the 
reasonableness of estimates made by the directors and 
the related disclosures and the appropriateness of the 
going concern basis of preparation of the financial 
statements. All of these depend on assessments of the 
future economic environment and the Group's future 
prospects and performance.

Covid-19 and Brexit are amongst the most significant 
economic events currently faced by the UK, and at the 
date of this report their effects are subject to 
unprecedented levels of uncertainty, with the full range 
of possible outcomes and their impacts unknown. We 
applied a standardised firm-wide approach in response 
to these uncertainties when assessing the company’s 
future prospects and performance. However, no audit 
should be expected to predict the unknowable factors or 
all possible future implications for a Group associated 
with these particular events.

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members 
of Swan Housing Association Limited
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Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where:

• the directors' use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is not appropriate; or

• the directors have not disclosed in the financial 
statements any identified material uncertainties that 
may cast significant doubt about the Group's and 
Parent Society’s ability to continue to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting for a period of at 
least twelve months from the date when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue.

In our evaluation of the directors' conclusions, we 
considered the risks associated with the Group's and 
Parent Society’s business model, including effects 
arising from macro-economic uncertainties such as 
Covid-19 and Brexit, and analysed how those risks 
might affect the company's financial resources or ability 
to continue operations over the period of at least twelve 
months from the date when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue. In accordance with the above, we 
have nothing to report in these respects. 

However, as we cannot predict all future events or 
conditions and as subsequent events may result in 
outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that 
were reasonable at the time they were made, the 
absence of reference to a material uncertainty in this 
Auditor's Report is not a guarantee that the company 
will continue in operation.

Other information

The Board is responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises the information included in 
the Annual Report, other than the financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly 
stated in our report, we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our 
audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies 
or apparent material misstatements, we are required to 
determine whether there is a material misstatement in 
the financial statements or a material misstatement of 
the other information. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Matters on which we are required to report 
by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in our 
opinion:

• a satisfactory system of control over transactions 
has not been maintained; or

• the Parent Society has not kept proper accounting 
records; or

• the financial statements are not in agreement with 
the books of account; or

• we have not received all the information and 
explanations we need for our audit.

Responsibilities of the Board for the 
financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Board's 
Responsibilities, set out on page 66, the board is 
responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view, and for such internal control as the Board 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members 
of Swan Housing Association Limited (cont.)
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In preparing the financial statements, the board is 
responsible for assessing the Group's and Parent 
Society’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the Board either intend to liquidate 
the Group or Parent Society or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of 
our Auditor’s Report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Society's members, as 
a body, in accordance with regulations made under 
Sections 87 and 98(7) of the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies Act 2014. Our audit work 
has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Society's members those matters we are required to 
state to them in an auditor's report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the Society and the Society's members as a body, 
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.

    

Grant Thornton UK LLP 
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants 
Cambridge 
28 September 2020
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Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

Notes 2020 2019
Restated

see note 30

£’000 £’000

Turnover 3 170,456 81,128

Operating costs 3 (141,040) (58,829)

Surplus on sale of fixed assets 3 3,206 3,096

Operating surplus 3 32,622 25,395

Share of loss from joint venture 15 (9) (5)

Interest receivable and similar income 8 2,670 1,904

Interest payable and similar charges 9 (13,469) (15,405)

Movement in fair value of financial instruments 19 (14,562) (2,128)

Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 10 7,252 9,761

Tax credit on surplus on ordinary activities 11 85 34

Surplus on ordinary activities after taxation 7,336 9,795

Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of defined benefit pension obligation 28 3,210 (1,092)

Re-measurement of SHPS obligation 28 - (2,183)

Total comprehensive income for the year 10,547 6,520
      

The consolidated results relate wholly to continuing activities. The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 15 September 2020 and signed 
on its behalf by:

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Company Number: 28496R

Valerie Owen, Chair John Synnuck, Chief Executive Sue McBride, Company Secretary
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Notes 2020 2019
Restated

see note 30

£’000 £’000

Turnover 3 93,431 79,985

Operating costs 3 (68,601) (52,691)

Surplus on sale of fixed assets 3 3,206 3,096

Operating surplus 3 28,036 30,390

Interest receivable and similar income 8 4,037 2,114

Interest payable and similar charges 9 (17,444) (17,208)

Movement in fair value of financial instruments 19 (14,562) (2,128)

Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 10 67 13,168

Tax charge on surplus on ordinary activities 11 - -

Surplus on ordinary activities after taxation 67 13,168

Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of defined benefit pension obligation 28 3,210 (1,092)

Re-measurement of SHPS obligation 28 - (2,183)

Total comprehensive income for the year 3,277 9,893
      

Association Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

The Association's results relate wholly to continuing activities. The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 15 September 2020 and signed 
on its behalf by:

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Company Number: 28496R

Valerie Owen, Chair John Synnuck, Chief Executive Sue McBride, Company Secretary
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Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Reserves

Share capital Income and 
expenditure 

reserve  

Revaluation 
reserve

Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Previously reported balances at 31 March 2018 59,174 167,917 227,091

Adjustments to restate balance (see note 30) 1,048 - 1,048

Restated Balance as at 1 April 2018            
(see note 30)

- 60,222 167,917 228,139

Surplus for the year - 9,795 - 9,795

Other comprehensive income for the year - (3,275) - (3,275)

Transfer from revaluation reserve to income and 
expenditure reserve

- 2,126 (2,126) -

Restated Balance as at 31 March 2019        
(see note 30)

- 68,868 165,791 234,659

Surplus for the year - 7,336 - 7,336

Other comprehensive income for the year - 3,210 - 3,210

Transfer from revaluation reserve to income and 
expenditure reserve

- 1,873 (1,873) -

Balance as at 31 March 2020 - 81,287 163,918 245,205
      

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Share capital Income and 
expenditure 

reserve  

Revaluation 
reserve

Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance as at 1 April 2018 - 60,630 167,917 228,547

Surplus for the year - 13,168 - 13,168

Other comprehensive income for the year - (3,275) - (3,275)

Transfer from revaluation reserve to income 
and expenditure reserve

- 2,126 (2,126) -

Balance as at 31 March 2019 - 72,649 165,791 238,440

Surplus for the year - 67 - 67

Other comprehensive income for the year - 3,210 - 3,210

Transfer from revaluation reserve to income 
and expenditure reserve

- 1,873 (1,873) -

Balance as at 31 March 2020 - 77,799 163,918 241,717
      

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Association Statement of 
Changes in Reserves
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Notes 2020 2019
Restated

see note 30

£’000 £’000

Fixed Assets

Intangible assets 12 3,544 2,051

Tangible fixed assets – housing properties 13 772,059 741,191

Other tangible fixed assets 14 8,841 6,946

Investment in joint venture 15 23,548 19,926

807,992 770,114

Current Assets

Stock and properties held for sale 16 181,164 196,584

Debtors due within one year 17a 13,491 7,171

Debtors due after one year 17b 25,921 29,103 

Cash at bank and in hand 95,750 29,432

316,326 262,290

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 18 (79,694) (83,296)

Net current assets 236,632 178,994

Total assets less current liabilities 1,044,624 949,108

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 19 (774,378) (702,201)

Provision for Liabilities

Defined benefit pension liability 28 (3,230) (6,948)

Other provisions 20 (21,811) (5,300)

Total net assets 245,205 234,659

Capital and reserves

Share capital 21 - -

Income and expenditure reserve 81,287 68,868

Revaluation reserve 163,918 165,791

Total capital and reserves 245,205 234,659
      

Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. These financial statements were approved by the Board of 
Directors and authorised for issue on 15 September 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Company Number: 28496R

Valerie Owen, Chair John Synnuck, Chief Executive Sue McBride, Company Secretary



Swan Housing Association Limited | Year ended: 31 March 2020 75

Association Statement of 
Financial Position

Notes 2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Fixed Assets

Intangible fixed assets 12 3,014 1,469

Tangible fixed assets – housing properties 13 778,351 747,030

Other tangible fixed assets 14 7,131 4,890

Investments 15 70,800 65,012

859,296 818,401

Current Assets

Properties held for sale 16 24,067 22,466

Debtors due within one year 17a 14,000 9,640

Debtors due after one year 17b 24,921 27,731

Cash at bank and in hand 58,160 28,035

121,148 87,872

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 18 (36,815) (23,532)

Net current assets 84,333 63,340

Total assets less current liabilities 943,629 882,741

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 19 (688,629) (632,053)

Provision for Liabilities

Defined benefit pension liability 28 (3,230) (6,948)

Other provisions 20 (10,053) (5,300)

Total net assets 241,717 238,440

Capital and reserves

Share capital 21 - -

Income and expenditure reserve 77,799 72,649

Revaluation reserve 163,918 165,791

Total capital and reserves 241,717 238,440
      

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. These financial statements were approved by the Board of 
Directors and authorised for issue on 15 September 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Company Number: 28496R

Valerie Owen, Chair John Synnuck, Chief Executive Sue McBride, Company Secretary
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Notes 2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Cash flow from operating activities

Net cash generated from operating activities A 90,082 (41,559)

Corporation tax paid - -

90,082 (41,599)

Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (57,800) (31,885)

Purchase of other tangible fixed assets (3,164) (1,059)

Purchase of intangible fixed assets (1,580) (881)

Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets 5,888 6,433

Subsequent loans to joint venture (1,097) (3,150)

Grants received 3,019 59,465

Interest received 102 76

(54,632) 28,999

Cash flow from financing activities

Interest paid (23,179) (21,567)

New secured loans and bond proceeds received 52,560 52,121

Loan issue costs paid (91) (432)

Premium on retained bond issue 4,059 -

Repayments of borrowings (2,481) (1,768)

30,868 28,354

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 66,318 15,754

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 29,432 13,678

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 95,750 29,432
      

Consolidated Statement of 
Cash Flows
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2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Surplus for the year 7,336 9,795

Add back non-cash items:

Depreciation 8,552 8,265

Amortisation 121 114

Decrease / (increase) in debtors (3,137) 1,717

(Decrease) / Increase in creditors (3,541) 6,029

Increase in provision 16,511 2,100

(Surplus) on sale of housing assets (3,206) (3,096)

Pension costs less contribution payable (666) (856)

Share of loss from joint venture 9 5

Interest payable and similar charges 13,469 15,405

Interest receivable and similar income (2,670) (1,904)

Tax charge (85) (34)

Movement in fair value of financial instruments 14,562 2,128

Movement in stock and properties for sale 42,827 (81,267)

Cash (used in) / generated from operations 90,082 (41,599)
      

Note A to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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At 1 April 
2019

Cash flows  Fair Value 
movement

Other 
non-cash 

movement

At March 
2020

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash 29,432 66,318 - - 95,750

Housing loans due within one year (520) 520 - (1,040) (1,040)

PFI loan due within one year (1,962) 1,962 - (1,983) (1,983)

GLA loan due within one year (29,125) - - - (29,125)

Finance Leases (3,024) - - - (3,024)

Housing loans due greater than one 
year

(232,068) (12,000) - 1,040 (243,028)

Bond due greater than one year (210,000) (25,000) - - (235,000)

Bond issue premium and costs 549 (3,968) - (64) (3,483)

Financial instruments at fair value (60,889) - (14,562) - (75,451)

GLA loans due greater than one year (47,714) (2,286) - - (50,000)

Homes England loan due greater 
than one year

(10,198) (13,275) - - (23,473)

PFI loan due greater than one year (24,384) - - 1,983 (22,401)

Total (589,903) 12,271 (14,562) (64) (592,258)
      

Note B to the Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flows – 
Analysis of Net Debt

Consolidated Statement of 
Cash Flows
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1. Legal Status

Swan Housing Association Limited is registered under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 
and is a registered provider of social housing.

At 31 March 2020 the Group held 100% of the issued ordinary share capital of the following:

*Owned indirectly – 100% owned by Swan New Homes Limited

The jointly controlled entities are:

** 49.9% owned by Swan New Homes Limited

*** 50% partnership between Swan BQ Limited and Southend-on-Sea Borough Council

All of the Group’s subsidiaries and the jointly controlled entities registered office is Pilgrim House, High Street, 
Billericay, Essex, England, CM12 9XY.

Company Activity Country of incorporation

Swan New Homes Limited Build of new homes England and Wales

Swan Commercial Services Limited Design and build contractor England and Wales

Hera Management Services Limited* Property management England and Wales

Vivo Support Limited* Care and support services England and Wales

Swan Housing Capital Plc Treasury England and Wales

Swan Housing Finance Limited Treasury England and Wales

Swan BQ Limited Investment holding company England and Wales

Company Activity Country of incorporation

Purfleet Centre Regeneration 
Limited**

Property development England and Wales

Porters Place Southend-on-Sea 
LLP***

Regeneration partnership England and Wales

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2. Principal Accounting Policies

Basis of accounting

The financial statements of the Group and Association 
have been prepared in accordance with UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice (‘UK GAAP’) including 
Financial Reporting Standard 102 (‘FRS102’) which 
includes amendments following its first triennial review 
and the Statement of Recommended Practice for 
Registered Social Landlords 2018 (‘Housing SORP’) 
and comply with the Accounting Direction for Private 
Registered Providers of Social Housing 2019.

The financial statements are presented in sterling and 
rounded to the nearest thousand (£’000). 

The Group is a public benefit entity.

Disclosure exemptions

The individual accounts of Swan Housing Association 
Limited have adopted the following disclosure 
exemptions:

(a) The requirement to present a statement of cash 
flows and related notes as it is the parent of the Swan 
Housing Group which prepares publicly available 
consolidated financial statements and the Association is 
included in the consolidation;

(b) Financial instrument disclosures, including the 
categories of financial instrument; items of income, 
expense, gains or losses relating to financial 
instruments and exposure to and management of 
financial risks; and

(c) From disclosing the Association’s key management 
personnel compensation.

Going concern

The Group's business activities, its current financial 
position, and factors likely to affect its future 
development are set out within the Strategic Report 
(including a summary of the Group's key risks). 

The Group has in place long-term debt facilities which 
provide adequate resources to finance committed 
reinvestment and development programmes, along with 
the Group's day to day operations. 

The Group's long-term business plan, which includes 
proactive action in relation to mitigating the financial 
impact of Covid-19, demonstrates that it is able to 
service these debt facilities whilst continuing to comply 
with lenders’ loan covenants. The business plan has 
been subject to a wide range of individual and multi-
variate stress tests which have been cross referenced 
but were not limited to the key risks set out in the 
Strategic Report. 

A disruptive Brexit has been modelled as part of the 
Group's multi-variate stress testing and mitigations have 
been developed to manage a scenario which assumes 
the transition period concludes in December 2020 
without a free trade agreement being in place between 
the United Kingdom and the European Union.

On this basis, the Board has a reasonable expectation 
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future, being a 
period of at least twelve months after the date on which 
the report and financial statements are signed.  For this 
reason, it continues to adopt the going concern basis in 
the financial statements.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (cont.)

Significant judgements and estimates 

The preparation of financial statements requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that impact the amounts reported for 
assets and liabilities at the Statement of Financial 
Position date and the amounts reported for revenues 
and expenses during the year. However, the nature of 
estimates means that actual outcomes could differ from 
those estimates.

The following are the significant management 
judgements made in applying policies of the Group that 
have the most significant effect on the financial 
statements.

Financial instrument classification

The Group's loans are required to be classified as either 
basic or non-basic financial instruments in accordance 
with the conditions set out under FRS102 section 11.9.

Management has concluded that two of the Group's 
loans should be reported as non-basic.  Both include an 
embedded mandatory swap payment on termination of 
the loan which results in the return to the lender being a 
combination of a positive fixed rate and a negative 
variable rate (as part of the notional swap value) which 
is not permitted by FRS102 11.9a (iv).

The Group's remaining loans each contain a 
prepayment option which may result in a compensation 
payment from the lender.  Management has assessed 
this prepayment option against the condition set out in 
FRS102 11.9b which states that for a loan to be 
classified as basic there should be no contractual 
provision that results in the holder losing the principal 
amount or any interest attributable to current or prior 
periods.  Management has concluded that the loans are 
basic on the basis that the repayment relates to future 
interest payments and not the repayment of the 
principal amount or interest that is due. 

Management have re-assessed its financial instrument 

classifications following amendments to the basic 
definition that were introduced as part of the triennial 
review of FRS102. No changes to the classifications 
were required.

Estimation uncertainty

Information about estimates and assumptions that have 
the most significant effect on recognition and 
measurement of assets, liability, income and expenses 
is provided below. Actual results may be substantially 
different.

Provision for replacement of cladding containing 
Aluminum Composite Material (ACM)

During the year ended 31 March 2019 the Group 
recognised a £5.3m provision in respect of estimated 
costs to replace cladding containing Aluminium 
Composite Material (‘ACM’) on two schemes. 
Confirmed grant funding of £1.9m was also accrued 
during the year ended 31 March 2019 which, taken 
together with the cost provision, resulted in a net liability 
of £3.4m.

During the year ended 31 March 2020 the Group has 
continued to progress the matter in accordance with its 
commitments and responsibilities as landlord and the 
evolving changes to building regulations. £16.5m of 
additional funding has been secured during the year of 
which £15.9m has been received, which when 
considered with the increase in provision to £21.8m 
results in a net liability of £3.3m as at 31 March 2020 
(see note 20).

One of the schemes contains a mix of 44 social rented 
properties owned by the Association and 93 leasehold 
properties which are owned by Swan New Homes 
Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary undertaking of the 
Association. The cost provision and funding secured for 
this scheme has been allocated between the 
Association and Swan New Homes Limited in 
proportion to the properties held by each entity.

The Association and the Group remain intent on 
pursuing all available options to recover the cost of 

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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works required which may result in a more favourable 
position than currently reflected in the consolidated 
financial statements. A provisional allocation from the 
MHCLG private sector ACM fund has been secured 
during the year. The final outcome of these endeavours 
remain inherently uncertain.

Useful lives of depreciable assets

Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of 
depreciable assets at each reporting date based on the 
expected utility of the assets.  Uncertainties in these 
estimates may relate to technological obsolescence and 
changes to decent home standards which may require 
more frequent replacement of key components.

Defined Benefit obligation

Management’s estimate of the defined benefit obligation 
is based on a number of critical underlying assumptions 
such as standard rates of inflation, mortality, discount 
rate and anticipation of future salary increases. 
Variation in these assumptions may significantly impact 
the liability and the annual defined benefit expenses (as 
analysed in note 28). The net defined benefit pension 
liability at 31 March 2020 was £3.2m (2019: £6.9m).

Stock and properties held for sale

Stock and properties held for sale are carried at the 
lower of cost or net realisable value. Management 
assesses the net realisable value of schemes using 
publicly available information and internal forecasts on 
future sales prices after allowing for all further costs of 
completion and disposal.

Fair value measurement

Management utilises the services of a specialist third 
party treasury advisor to calculate the fair value of its 
financial instruments.  Fair value measurements were 
applied to the embedded derivatives for two loans in the 
year.  The valuation techniques include discounted cash 
flow pricing models with observable inputs.  The most 
significant inputs into those models are interest rate 

yield curves, developed from publicly quoted rates and 
market available information.  

All valuations have been compared to similar market 
transactions or alternative third-party pricing services to 
ensure current market conditions are properly 
represented.  The fair value of the two non-basic 
financial instruments as at 31 March 2020 was £137.9m 
(2019: £123.4m). 

Movements in fair value between periods are 
exclusively due to changes in observable inputs, which 
can shift due to changes in demand and supply in 
public market rates and market information, and due to 
time factor in the above instruments’ pricing in a 
discounted cash flow pricing model.

Recoverability of trade receivables 

Management exercise judgement relating to the 
recoverability of outstanding rental and other trade 
receivables. A review is performed regularly to assess 
whether each individual receivable is recoverable.

Impairment

As at 31 March 2020 management assessed whether 
there were any impairments triggers and have 
considered the outbreak of Covid-19 which may impact 
rent collection and tenant arrears, progress on 
construction sites and the value of house prices. No 
impairment charges were required to housing assets, 
properties held for sale or investments following 
management’s review.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (cont.)

Group structure and basis of consolidation

Swan Housing Association Limited Group (the ‘Group’) 
came into existence in 1994. The Group is required by 
the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 
2014 to prepare consolidated financial statements. The 
Group financial statements incorporate the financial 
statements of the Parent, Swan Housing Association 
Limited, and its subsidiaries. 

The results of businesses acquired or disposed of in the 
year are consolidated from or up to the effective date of 
acquisition or disposal retrospectively.  The net assets 
of businesses acquired are incorporated in the 
consolidated financial statements at their fair values at 
the date of acquisition.  Transactions and balances 
between Group companies are eliminated.

The Group acquired a 49.9% interest in Purfleet Centre 
Regeneration Limited in October 2017. This interest 
results in a jointly controlled entity which is accounted 
for using the equity method of accounting. Under this 
method the equity investment is initially recognised at 
the transaction price and is subsequently adjusted to 
reflect the Group's share of the profit or loss in the 
jointly controlled entity. The acquisition generated 
goodwill of £0.3m.

In April 2019 Swan BQ Limited, a wholly owned 
subsidiary, became a 50% partner in Porters Place 
Southend-on-Sea LLP, a newly incorporated entity. The 
Group's interest in the LLP also results in a jointly 
controlled entity which is accounted for using the equity 
method.

Turnover

Turnover comprises rental income receivable in the 
year, income from shared ownership first tranche sales, 
sales of properties built for sale, income for care and 
support services, unitary charge income from a private 
finance initiative and other services included at the 
contracted or invoiced value (excluding VAT 
chargeable) of goods and services supplied in the year 
and grants receivable in the year.

Rental income is recognised from the point when 
properties under development reach practical 
completion or otherwise become available for letting, 
net of any voids. Income from first tranche sales and 
sales of properties built for sale is recognised at the 
point of legal completion of the sale. Income from land 
sales is recognised on the unconditional exchange of 
contracts. Income for care and support services 
including supporting people contracts are recognised 
when the rewards and benefits associated with the 
services provided are transferred, where the amount 
can be estimated reliably and when the amount is 
recoverable. Unitary charge income is recognised in 
accordance with the financial close model which 
apportions the income between the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income for housing management 
services and the Statement of Financial position for 
income accrued during the construction phase of the 
contract.

Donations received under the gift aid scheme in Swan 
Housing Association Limited from its subsidiaries are 
recognised as turnover upon receipt as it relates to the 
principal activities of the Association and is eliminated 
on consolidation.

The Group's social housing properties are tenanted 
under cancellable operating lease conditions. Typical 
tenant break clauses exist required a notice period of 
one month. Rents fluctuate in accordance with the Rent 
Standard and are affected by the Welfare Reform and 
Work Act 2016. Shared Ownership properties may be 
part purchased at anytime at the prevailing pro rate 
market rate, on going lease payments will be adjusted 
to align with the share of ownership retained in the 
Group. Certain tenanted properties provide the existing 
tenant with the right to buy or acquire the property 
outright.

Interest

Interest is recognised as income when receivable.  
Interest payable is accrued daily and recognised as an 
expense. Interest on the net borrowing of the Group as 
a whole is capitalised to the extent that the borrowing 
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relates to development costs less capital grants 
received in relation to incomplete properties under 
construction or refurbishment. 

Taxation  

Current tax is recognised for the amount of corporation 
tax payable in respect of the taxable surplus for the 
current or past reporting periods using the rates and 
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
at the reporting date.  As a result of the Association’s 
status as a charity, the Association is largely exempt 
from corporation tax.  The Association’s subsidiaries are 
subject to corporation tax but may make gift aid 
donations to the Association which reduces their 
liabilities to corporation tax. Following an amendment 
introduced by the triennial review of FRS102, such 
donations, if made within nine months of the end of an 
accounting period, may be used to reduce the 
corporation tax payable in respect of the profits of that 
period. The benefit of this relief is recognised in these 
financial statements (see note 30). In the prior year a 
corporation charge was recognised in the Association’s 
subsidiaries which were reporting taxable surpluses.

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing 
differences at the reporting date, except as indicated.  
Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that they will be recovered against the 
reversal of deferred tax liabilities or future taxable 
profits.

Deferred tax is calculated using the rates and laws 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date 
that are expected to apply to the reversal of the timing 
difference.  Deferred tax liabilities are presented in 
provisions for liabilities and deferred tax assets in 
debtors.  Such assets and liabilities are only offset 
where the Group has a legal right of set off and relate to 
the same tax authority and taxable entities.

VAT

The Association and the majority of its subsidiaries are 
included in a Group VAT registration in the name of 
Swan Housing Association Limited. The majority of the 
Association’s income, being rents, is exempt for VAT 
purposes, but other Group members generate taxable 
income.  This combination gives rise to a partial 
exemption calculation.  Expenditure for non-taxable 
activities is therefore shown inclusive of VAT and the 
input VAT recovered is credited against operating costs.  
Expenditure on taxable activities is shown exclusive of 
VAT.  The balance of VAT payable or recoverable at the 
year-end is included as a current liability or asset.

Intangible assets

Computer software is carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses. Costs relating to 
the development of computer software for internal use 
are capitalised. Costs include the total cost of external 
products or services and any labour costs directly 
attributable to the development. 

Amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis over the 
expected useful life of the software and is commenced 
when the asset is ready for operational use. The 
expected useful life is considered to be four years

Goodwill

Goodwill is the difference between the cost of an 
acquired entity or business over the aggregate of the 
fair value of that entity’s identifiable assets and 
liabilities. Positive goodwill is shown on the Statement 
of Financial Position as an asset and is amortised 
evenly over its estimated useful economic life.  In 
addition to systematic amortisation, the book value is 
written down to recoverable amount when any 
impairment is identified.

Investments in subsidiaries   

Investments in subsidiaries represent amounts 
subscribed as share capital to, or on-lent by the 
Association to its subsidiaries under the Group's 
internal financing arrangements and are stated at cost 
less impairment in the Association’s financial 
statements.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (cont.)

Investments in jointly controlled entities (joint 
ventures)  

An entity is treated as jointly controlled where the Group 
is party to an agreement with one or more parties from 
outside the Group to undertake an economic activity that 
is subject to joint control. In the consolidated accounts, 
interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for 
using the equity method.

Loans due from a jointly controlled entity are included in 
investments where the amounts are intended for use on 
a continuing basis in the jointly controlled entities 
activities. The loans are subsequently accounted for as 
a basic financial instrument.

Investments in jointly controlled entities are stated at 
cost less impairment in the Association’s financial 
statements.

Impairment

The Group continuously reviews the performance of its 
assets and management monitors the operating 
environment for triggers of impairment such as, but not 
limited to, increasing void losses and changes in 
government policy. As at 31 March 2020 management 
assessed whether there were any impairments triggers 
and have considered the outbreak of Covid-19 which 
may impact rent collection and tenant arrears, progress 
on construction sites and the value of house prices.

Where there is evidence of impairment, the intangible 
and tangible fixed assets are written down to their 
recoverable amount and any impairment losses are 
charged to operating expenditure.

The recoverable amounts of the Association’s housing 
properties are estimated as follows:

a. Determine the level at which a recoverable amount 
is to be assessed, the cash generating unit (CGU) 

level is determined to be an individual scheme;

b. Estimate the recoverable amount of the CGU;

c. Calculate the carrying amount of the CGU, and   

d. Compare the carrying amount to the recoverable 
amount to determine if an impairment has occurred.

Based on this assessment, a Depreciated Replacement 
Cost (DRC) is calculated using appropriate construction 
costs and land prices.  Where the DRC is less than the 
carrying amount, an impairment is taken to reduce the 
carrying amount to the DRC. Management consider the 
use of DRC to be an appropriate measure of the value 
in use of assets held for their future service potential.

Following review management concluded there was no 
impairment charges in relation to Covid-19.

Housing properties cost and depreciation

Completed general needs and supported housing 
properties are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.  Cost includes the 
cost of acquiring land and buildings, development 
on-costs and interest charges incurred during the 
development period.

Works to existing properties which replace a component 
that has been treated separately for depreciation 
purposes, along with works that result in an increase in 
net rental income over the lives of the properties, 
thereby enhancing the economic benefits of the assets, 
are capitalised as improvements. The existing 
components are derecognised through the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

The Group depreciates the major components of its 
general needs and supported housing properties on a 
straight-line basis, at the following annual rates:

Structure   0.80%

Bathrooms   3.33%

Kitchens   5.00%

Electrics   3.33%
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Boilers    6.66%

Windows   3.33%

Central Heating   2.50%

Freehold land is not depreciated.

Expenditure on shared ownership properties is split 
proportionally between current and fixed assets based 
on the element relating to expected first tranche sales.  
The first tranche proportion is classed as a current 
asset and the related sales proceeds are including in 
turnover.  The remaining element is classed as a fixed 
asset and included in housing properties at cost, less 
accumulated depreciation on a straight-line basis over 
the life of the structure and impairment losses. 

Completed NHS keyworker and properties held under 
finance leases are stated at cost less depreciation 
which is charged on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.

Housing properties under construction are stated at 
cost and are transferred to completed properties once 
they are available for letting.  No depreciation is 
provided on housing properties under construction.

For other tangible fixed assets, depreciation is charged 
on a straight-line basis over the expected economic 
useful lives of the assets at the following annual rates:

Freehold offices    2% on cost

Commercial units   2.5% on cost

Leasehold improvements  20% on cost

Plant and machinery   20% on cost

Office equipment and fittings  20% on cost

Computer equipment   25% on cost 

Development costs

Costs associated with development projects are 
capitalised where they are directly attributable to 
bringing the properties into working condition for their 
intended use.  Such costs generally include 
professional fees, directly attributable staff salary costs 
incurred in administering the development programme 
and loan interest attributable to the scheme.  Costs 
incurred on schemes which are identified as abortive 
are written off in the year in which the scheme is 
classified as abortive.

Lease obligations 

Where assets are financed by leasing arrangements 
which transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership, they are classified as finance leases and are 
treated as if they had been purchased outright.  The 
amount capitalised is the present value of the minimum 
lease payment during the term of the lease.  The 
corresponding leasing commitments are shown as 
obligations to the lessor.  Rentals paid under operating 
leases (including those paid under temporary social 
housing leases) are charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. 
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Stock

Inventories primarily represent the costs of ongoing 
design and build works and is stated at the lower of cost 
and estimated selling price less costs to complete and 
sell.

The costs of design and build works includes the costs 
of the manufacture, off-site, of modular housing units. 
The raw materials utilised in this process are stated at 
the lower of cost or net realisable value.

Otherwise the cost of design and build works, modular 
housing units or owned land developed for sale is 
determined on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. Cost 
includes the purchase price, including taxes and duties 
and transport and handling directly attributable to 
bringing the inventory to its present location and 
condition.   

At each year end date inventory is assessed for 
impairment.  If inventories are impaired, the carrying 
value is reduced to its recoverable value less the costs 
to completion.  The impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. 

Properties for sale   

Shared ownership first tranche sales, completed 
properties for outright sale and property under 
construction are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value.  Cost comprises materials, direct 
labour and direct development overheads.  Net 
realisable value is based on estimated sales price after 
allowing for all further costs of completion and disposal.

Work in progress consists of land and build costs 
incurred on current developments.  This is held at the 
lower of cost or estimated selling price less costs to 
complete and sell.

Debtors

Short term debtors are measured at transaction price 
less any impairment.  A full provision is made against 
former tenant arrears and a phased percentage 
provision is made against current tenant balances with 
a maximum of 75% for balances outstanding for more 
than 20 weeks.

Homebuy Loans

Homebuy loans are initially recognised at their fair 
value. The loans are subsequently updated to reflect 
imputed interest and are reviewed for impairment with 
any adjustments being recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. The Group shares in any 
future capital gain or loss realised by the homeowner on 
the related property since the loan amount repayable is 
tied to the property value.

Creditors

Short term creditors are measured at the transaction 
price.

Government grants 

Government grants include grants receivable from 
Homes England, local authorities and other government 
organisations.  Government capital grants received 
prior to the transition to FRS102 have been accounted 
for under the performance method and recognised as 
income.  Capital grants for housing properties received 
post transition are accounted for under the accruals 
method within creditors and recognised in income over 
the useful life of the property structure.

Social Housing and other capital development grants 
may be repayable under certain circumstances, 
primarily following the sale of a property.  Provision for 
repayment in the Recycled Capital Grant Fund is made 
in the Statement of Financial Position when properties 
which have previously received grant funding are sold.
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Grants relating to revenue are recognised as income 
over the same period as the expenditure to which they 
relate once reasonable assurance has been gained that 
any conditions associated with the grant have been 
met.

Pensions

Swan Housing Association Limited participates in a 
multi-employer defined benefit scheme, the Social 
Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS), which the 
Association has closed to new entrants.  

On 1 April 2018, sufficient information became available 
for the Association in respect of SHPS to account for its 
obligation on a defined benefit basis. This change on 
transition resulted in a re-measurement difference of 
£2,183k, which was recognised at the relevant date of 
application, on 1 April 2018, in Other Comprehensive 
Income, was therefore reflected in the year ended 31 
March 2019. 

The most recent formal actuarial valuation was 
completed as at 30 September 2017 and rolled forward, 
allowing for the different financial assumptions required 
under FRS102, to 31 March 2020 by a qualified 
independent actuary.

The net defined benefit liability at the year ended 31 
March 2020 is £3,230k (2019: £6,948k).

In the year ended 31 March 2020, the current service 
costs and costs from settlements and curtailments are 
charged against operating surplus in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Interest is 
calculated on the net defined benefit liability. 
Remeasurements are reported in Other Comprehensive 
Income. Note 28 contains further details.

Swan Housing Association Limited, Swan New Homes 
Limited, Vivo Support Limited and Hera Management 
Services Limited currently operate defined contribution 
benefit schemes for active members. The charge to 
expenditure represents the employer contribution 
payable to the schemes for the accounting period.

Financial instruments

Financial instruments which meet the criteria of a basic 
financial instrument as defined in Section 11 of FRS102 
are accounted for under an amortised cost model.  The 
effective interest rate method, which applies the interest 
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash 
flows to the carrying amount of the financial instrument 
at initial recognition, has been used to calculate 
amortised cost.  Any related fees and transaction costs 
are also amortised using this method.

Loan modifications are assessed on a case by case 
basis and where modifications are deemed to be 
substantial the instrument is derecognised.  Where 
modifications are considered to be non-substantial they 
are accounted for in accordance with Section 11 of 
FRS102. 

Non basic financial instruments are recognised at fair 
value using a valuation technique with any gains or 
losses being reported in surplus or deficit.  At each year 
end the instruments are revalued to fair value with the 
movements posted to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.

The Group and Association have not adopted hedge 
accounting for financial instruments.

Loan issue costs

Costs in relation to the issuance of basic debt 
instruments are amortised over the life of the 
instrument.  Costs in relation to non-basic debt 
instruments are expensed as incurred.  The discount/
premium arising on bond issues are spread evenly over 
the remaining life of the bond, with a resulting 
movement in finance costs each year. 
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (cont.) 

Provision for liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a 
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that the Group will be  required 
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best 
estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, 
taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation.

The Group has also recognised a provision to fund the 
replacement of a proportion of the cladding on two 
schemes which contains Aluminium Composite Material 
(see note 20).

Reserves

The Group establishes reserves for specific purposes 
where their use is subject to external restrictions and 
designated reserved where reserves are earmarked for 
a particular purpose.

Revaluation reserves

On transition to FRS102 the revaluation reserve was 
credited with the difference between the fair value of 
housing properties and the historical cost carrying 
value. As a result, housing properties carried at 
revaluation pre transition are carried at deemed cost. 

The depreciation charges and disposal costs relating to 
housing properties carried at deemed cost therefore 
contain an element of cost that is attributable to 
revaluation. Annual transfers between the income and 
expenditure and revaluation reserves are made to 
reconcile the reserve accounts.

Segmental reporting

For the purpose of segmental reporting, the chief 
operating decision maker (CODM) is considered to be 
the Group's Executive Team. In line with the segments 
reported to the CODM, the presentation of these 
financial statements and accompanying notes are in 
accordance with the Accounting Direction for Private 
Registered Providers of Social Housing 2019 and is 
considered appropriate. 

Information about income, expenditure and assets 
attributable to material operating segments are 
presented on the basis of the nature and function of 
housing assets held by the Group. This is appropriate 
on the basis of the similarity of the services provided, 
the nature of the risks associated, the type of customer 
and the nature of the regulatory environment in the 
geographical locations in which the Group operates. 
The CODM do not review disaggregated financial 
information of assets and liabilities at this level of 
operating segment. Segmental information is disclosed 
in notes 3 and 4 of these financial statements.
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GROUP 2020 2019

Turnover Operating 
Costs 

Surplus/
(deficit) 

  Turnover Operating 
Costs 

Surplus/
(deficit) 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Income and 
expenditure: 

From social housing 
lettings (note 4)

62,227 (34,484) 27,743 61,504 (32,593) 28,911

Other social 
housing activities:

Supporting people 
contract income

2,232 (2,921) (689) 2,031 (2,582) (551)

Group management 
services

- (7,496) (7,496) - (7,843) (7,843)

First tranche shared 
ownership sales

16,344 (14,778) 1,566 132 (106) 26

Forest Gate private 
finance initiative 

6,707 (5,357) 1,350 8,411 (6,829) 1,582

Surplus on sale of 
fixed assets

- - 3,206 - - 3,096

Other 259 (554) (295) 259 (548) (289)

25,542 (31,106) (2,358) 10,833 (17,908) (3,979)

Total social 
housing activities

87,769 (65,590) 25,385 72,337 (50,501) 24,932

Activities other 
than social 
housing:

Development 
activities

82,687 (75,450) 7,237 8,791 (8,328) 463

Total 170,456 (141,040) 32,622 81,128 (58,829) 25,395
      

3. Turnover, operating costs and operating surplus by class of business

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)

Included within Operating Costs on Social Housing Lettings are certain costs which are recharged to tenants and leaseholders and 
reported through annual service charge statements provided to these tenants and leaseholders. The group has engaged its auditors, 
Grant Thornton UK LLP to undertake certain agreed upon procedures in relation to these statements.
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ASSOCIATION 2020 2019

Turnover Operating 
Costs 

Surplus/
(deficit) 

  Turnover Operating 
Costs 

Surplus/
(deficit) 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Income and 
expenditure: 

From social housing 
lettings (note 4)

62,227 (34,484) 27,743 61,504 (32,593) 28,911

Other social 
housing activities:

Supporting people 
contract income

2,232 (2,921) (689) 2,031 (2,582) (551)

Group management 
services

2,358 (9,853) (7,495) 1,640 (9,483) (7,843)

First tranche shared 
ownership sales

16,344 (14,778) 1,566 132 (106) 26

Forest Gate private 
finance initiative 

6,707 (5,357) 1,350 8,411 (6,829) 1,582

Surplus on sale of 
fixed assets

- - 3,206 - - 3,096

Other 3,563 (1,208) 2,355 6,267 (1,098) 5,169

31,204 (34,117) (293) 18,481 (20,098) 1,479

Total social 
housing activities

93,431 (68,601) 28,036 79,985 (52,691) 30,390

Activities other 
than social 
housing:

Development 
activities

- - - - - -

Total 93,431 (68,601) 28,036 79,985 (52,691) 30,390
      

Other income includes £2,671k (2019: £5,458k) of donations received under the gift aid scheme from Group companies. Included 
within Operating Costs on Social Housing Lettings are certain costs which are recharged to tenants and leaseholders and reported 
through annual service charge statements provided to these tenants and leaseholders. The group has engaged its auditors, Grant 
Thornton UK LLP to undertake certain agreed upon procedures in relation to these statements.
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GROUP General 
Needs 

Housing  

NHS Trust 
Keyworker 

Shared 
Ownership

Total  
2020 

Total  
2019

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Rent receivable net of identifiable 
service charges

43,941 6,474 1,894 52,309 51,406

Amortised government grant 534 - - 534 528

Other grant 648 - -- 648 1,943

Service income 7,570 - 324 7,894 6,791

Net rental income 52,693 6,474 2,218 61,385 60,668

Lease income 842 - - 842 836

Turnover from social housing 
lettings

53,535 6,474 2,218 62,227 61,504

Management (7,838) (1,305) (287) (9,430) (12,304)

Services (6,105) (735) (215) (7,055) (3,386)

Routine maintenance (4,805) (577) (169) (5,551) (3,971)

Planned maintenance (4,360) (524) (153) (5,037) (5,692)

Bad debts (93) (35) - (128) (67)

Depreciation of housing properties (5,335) (1,695) (253) (7,283) (7,173)

Operating costs on social 
housing lettings

(28,536) (4,871) (1,077) (34,484) (32,593)

Operating surplus on social 
housing lettings

24,999 1,603 1,141 27,743 28,911

Void losses        (456)           (556)                -       (1,012)       (1,327)
      

4. Particulars of income and expenditure from lettings

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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ASSOCIATION General 
Needs 

Housing  

NHS Trust 
Keyworker 

Shared 
Ownership

Total  
2020 

Total  
2019

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Rent receivable net of identifiable 
service charges

43,941 6,474 1,894 52,309 51,406

Amortised government grant 534 - - 534 528

Other grant 648 - - 648 1,943

Service income 7,570 - 324 7,894 6,791

Net rental income 52,693 6,474 2,218 61,385 60,668

Lease income 842 - - 842 836

Turnover from social housing 
lettings

53,535 6,474 2,218 62,227 61,504

Management (7,838) (1,305) (287) (9,430) (12,304)

Services (6,105) (735) (215) (7,055) (3,386)

Routine maintenance (4,805) (577) (169) (5,551) (3,971)

Planned maintenance (4,360) (524) (153) (5,037) (5,692)

Bad debts (93) (35) - (128) (67)

Depreciation of housing properties (5,335) (1,695) (253) (7,283) (7,173)

Operating costs on social 
housing lettings

(28,536) (4,871) (1,077) (34,484) (32,593)

Operating surplus on social 
housing lettings

24,999 1,603 1,141 27,743 28,911

Void losses        (456)           (556)                -       (1,012)       (1,327)
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6. Staff numbers and costs

The average numbers of persons employed by the 
Group expressed both in full-time equivalents and 
numbers of staff members (including senior executives 
but excluding Board Members), analysed by category, 
were as follows:

The aggregate payroll cost of these persons was as 
follows:

The pension cost includes £nil (2019: £nil) increase in 
the provision for past deficit contributions. During the 
year a total of £64k (2019: £30k) was paid in relation to 
severance and redundancy costs, which are included in 
wages and salaries above. In addition, a total of £93k 
(2019: £100k) was paid to Non-Executive Board 
members and is included in wages and salaries above, 
see page 62 for further details.

Group Group  

2020 
FTEs 

2020 
No.

2019 
FTEs 

2019 
No.

Administration 
staff

379 404 317 344

Maintenance 4 4 4 4

Caretakers, 
cleaners and 
wardens

134 154 104 129

517 562 425 477
      

5. Key management personnel

The aggregate amount of Executive Director 
remuneration, who are considered to be the Group's 
key management personnel, for the year was £1,407k 
excluding pension contributions and taxable benefits 
(2019: £1,173k).  Directors’ pension contributions for 
the year were £17k (2019: £33k). Directors social 
security costs for the year were £161k (2019: £137k). 
Directors benefits in kind for the year £9k (2019: £9k).

Remuneration of the Chief Executive was £254k.  In 
addition, a payment in lieu of pension contributions of 
£19k was paid in the year.  Social security costs were 
£36k. Remuneration of the highest paid Executive 
Director was £406k.

Parent Non-Executive Board and Committee Members 
received remuneration of £149k (2019: £156k).  Social 
security costs were £5k (2019: £5k).  Total expenses 
reimbursed to Board and Committee Members were 
£4k (2019: £3k).

During the year £187k (2019: £nil) was paid in 
compensation for loss of office to key management 
personnel. Group Group

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

Wages and salaries 23,348 18,305

Social security costs 2,572 1,922

Other pension costs 835 415

26,755 20,642
      

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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6. Staff numbers and costs (cont.) 

The full-time equivalents number including Executive 
Directors who receive remuneration:

2020 2019

£60,001 to £70,000 19 18

£70,001 to £80,000 15 16

£80,001 to £90,000 14 5

£90,001 to £100,000 9 6

£100,001 to £110,000 10 7

£110,001 to £120,000 3 2

£120,001 to £130,000 4 1

£130,001 to £140,000 - 2

£140,001 to £150,000 2 2

£150,001 to £160,000 - 1

£160,001 to £170,000 2 2

£170,001 to £180,000 1 -

£180,001 to £190,000 - -

£190,001 to £200,000 - -

£200,001 to £210,000 - -

£210,001 to £220,000 - 1

£220,001 to £230,000 1 1

£230,001 to £240,000 - -

£240,001 to £250,000 - -

£250,001 to £260,000 - -

£260,001 to £270,000 - -

£270,001 to £280,000 1 1

£400,001 to £410,000 1 -
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Group Association  

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

Interest receivable from joint venture 2,568 1,828 2 -

Bank interest receivable 102 76 49 39

Interest from other group undertakings - - 3,986 2,075

2,670 1,904 4,037 2,114
      

7. Surplus on sale of fixed assets

Group Association  

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

Disposal proceeds 6,018 6,188 6,018 6,188

Carrying value of fixed assets sold (2,812) (3,092) (2,812) (3,092)

3,206 3,096 3,206 3,096
      

Included in the amounts above for both the Group and the Association are surpluses on the sale of housing 
properties of £3,206k (2019: £3,096k). These gains include the sale of assets connected with the provision of NHS 
Keyworker accommodation. The carrying value of housing assets sold includes recycled capital grant as detailed in 
note 19.

8. Interest receivable

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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9. Interest payable and similar charges

Group Association  

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

Bank loans 11,188 11,152 11,188 11,152

GLA & HCAi loans 3,721 2,100 - -

Bond 7,700 7,640 - -

Interest on intra-group lending - - 7,700 7,640

Net interest expense from defined benefit pension 
obligation (see note 28)

158 160 158 160

Other bank charges 367 483 351 467

Finance lease charges 285 280 286 280

23,419 21,815 19,683 19,699

Less: Interest capitalised (9,950) (6,410) (2,239) (2,491)

13,469 15,405 17,444 17,208
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Group Association  

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

The surplus on ordinary activities before taxation for 
the year is stated after charging/(crediting):

Auditor’s remuneration

-  Fees payable to the Association's auditor 
for the financial statement audit

95 62 95 62

-  Fees payable to the Association's auditor 
for the audit of the financial statements of 
its subsidiaries

65 42 65 42

-  Additional assurance services authorised 
by those charged with governance 
performed on material included within the 
Annual Report of the Group relevant to an 
engagement

31 30 31 30

Depreciation on  housing properties 7,283 7,173 7,283 7,173

Depreciation on other tangible fixed assets 1,269 1,092 733 613

Amortisation on other intangible fixed assets 36 28 36 28

Amortisation of goodwill 35 35 - -

Operating surplus Forest Gate PFI (1,350) (1,582) (1,350) (1,582)

Operating lease charges 987 1,003 424 436

Group service fees receivable from other Group 
undertakings (note 27)

- - (2,359) (1,640)

      

10. Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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Group Association  

2020 
            

£’000

2019
Restated 

£’000

2020 
            

£’000 

2019
Restated 

£’000

Current tax:

UK Corporation Tax on surplus for the year - - - -

UK Corporation Tax credit relating to prior year (89) - - -

(89) - - -

Deferred tax:

Origination and reversal of timing differences 5 (34) - -

Adjustment relating to prior periods 3 - -        -

Adjustment due to rate change (4)          - - -

4 (34) - -

Tax credit on surplus on ordinary activities (85) (34) - -

Tax reconciliation to total tax charge

Surplus on ordinary activities before tax 7,252 9,761 67 13,168

Surplus on ordinary activities multiplied by standard 
rate of Corporation Tax in the UK of 19% (2019: 
19%) 

     1,378 1,855 13 2,502

Tax losses previously not recognised now utilised - (12) - -

Charitable tax exemption (652) (1,843) (13) (2,502)

Permanent differences 9 - - -

Deferred taxation adjustment due to rate change (4) - - -

Tax loss utilised in year (470) - - -

Deferred tax asset not recognised 42 - - -

Current tax adjustment relating to prior periods (89) - - -

Deferred tax adjustment relating to prior periods 3 - - -

Compensating adjustment for intra-group interest (302) - - -

Deferred taxation, previously not recognised, now 
recognised

- (34) - -

Total tax credit on surplus for the year (85) (34) - -
      

11. Tax credit on surplus on  
      ordinary activities

Group Association  

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

Tax credits in Statement of Changes in Reserves

Tax previously provided on profits, released 
following payment of gift aid

839 1,048 - -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)

11. Tax charge on surplus on ordinary activities (cont.)

Deferred taxation

The Association is and intends to remain a charity and as such it is not subject to Corporation Tax (or deferred tax) 
on its profits provided its resources are utilised for charitable purposes. Hence taxation provided above relates 
entirely to the operations of subsidiaries of the Association and, by way of example, no deferred tax asset is 
available to be recognised in respect of matters such as the Association’s pension funding liability.

A deferred tax asset of £29k (2019: £34k) relating to tax losses carried forward for an unrestricted time period and 
capital allowances has been recognised at 31 March 2020 since following three years of profitable operation the 
Directors now expect the related subsidiary undertaking to generate future profits capable of offset by the losses and 
capital allowances. 

Deferred tax assets of £59k (2019: £31k) relating to other tax losses of £311k (2019: £170k) and capital allowances 
have not been recognised since, although the Board expect the respective subsidiary undertaking which generated 
these timing differences to generate future taxable profits capable of offset by them, they do not consider that the 
standards required for recognition have yet been met.

The movement in the year and the deferred tax asset recognised at the reporting date can be analysed as follows:

 
£’000

Movement in the year:

Deferred tax asset at 1 April 2019 34

Credit to Statement of Comprehensive Income (5)

Deferred tax asset at 31 March 2020 29

Categorisation of deferred tax asset

Recognised 
(included with Debtors)

Unrecognised

2020 2019 2020 2019

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Tax losses carried forward 26 32 59 29

Depreciation in advance of capital allowances 3 2 2 2

29 34 61 31
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Factors impacting future taxes

The UK Government previously announced that the rate of UK Corporation Tax would reduce to 17% with effect from 
1 April 2020. Consequently, unprovided deferred tax assets were stated at that rate. In the Spring Budget 2020, the 
Government announced that the previously announced decrease in the rate of Corporation Tax from 19% to 17% 
from 1 April 2020 would no longer happen and that rates would remain at 19% for the foreseeable future.  The new 
law was substantively enacted by a resolution under the Provision Collection of Taxes Act 1968 on 17 March 2020.  
The deferred tax asset of £30k is expected to reverse in the coming two years.  The amount recognised is stated at 
the rate of 19% based upon the expected timing of the reversal.

The Group has wholly owned subsidiaries that were formed in the expectation that their profits would be donated to 
the Association under the gift aid scheme. Such donations if made within nine months of the end of an accounting 
period may be used to reduce the Corporation Tax payable in respect of the profits of that period. No provision for 
such a donation out of the 2020 profits has been included in these accounts since no obligation to make that 
payment exists, but the Directors expect that such a donation will be made within nine months of 31 March 2020 
based on previous years and the Corporation Tax provided has therefore been correspondingly reduced.



104

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)

Group Software 
£’000

Goodwill 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Cost:

At 1 April 2019 1,498 1,056 2,554

Additions 1,580 - 1,580

At 31 March 2020 3,078 1,056 4,134

Amortisation:

At 1 April 2019 (28) (474) (502)

Charge for the year (36) (52) (88)

At 31 March 2020 (64) (526) (589)

Net Book Value:

At 31 March 2020 3,014 530 3,544

At 31 March 2019 1,469 582 2,051
      

12. Intangible fixed assets

Included in software above in both the Group and Association is 2,937k (2019: £1,357k) in relation to software in the 
course of construction as at 31 March 2020.

Association Software 
£’000

Cost:

At 1 April 2019 1,498

Additions 1,580

At 31 March 2020 3,078

Amortisation:

At 1 April 2019 (28)

Charge for the year (36)

At 31 March 2020 (64)

Net Book Value:

At 31 March 2020 3,014

At 31 March 2019 1,469
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13. Tangible fixed assets – housing properties

Housing properties: 
GROUP 

General/
special 
needs

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
housing 

properties

Completed 
NHS 

keyworker 

Properties 
held under 

finance 
leases

Under 
construction 

Total  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost:

At 1 April 2019 605,406 51,646 64,215 2,866 65,733 789,866

Additions 5,341 - 392 49 54,255 60,037

Disposals (1,022) (1,503) (745) (8) - (3,278)

Completions 18,147 45,559 - - (63,706) -

Transfer to other Fixed 
Assets

- - - - (2,523) (2,523)

Transfers to  work in 
progress

- - - - (16,753) (16,753)

At 31 March 2020 627,872 95,702 63,862 2,907 37,006 827,349

Depreciation:

At 1 April 2019 (25,013) (1,204) (19,941) (2,517) - (48,675)

Disposals 225 40 399 4 - 668

Charge for the year (5,303) (253) (1,695) (32) - (7,283)

At 31 March 2020 (30,091) (1,417) (21,237) (2,545) - (55,290)

Net book value:

At 31 March 2020 597,781 94,285 42,625 362 37,006 772,059

At 31 March 2019 580,393 50,442 44,274 349 65,733 741,191
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Housing properties: 
ASSOCIATION 

General/
special 
needs

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
housing 

properties

Completed 
NHS 

keyworker 

Properties 
held under 

finance 
leases

Under 
construction 

Total  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost:

At 1 April 2019 605,406 51,646 64,215 2,866 71,572 795,705

Additions 5,341 - 392 49 54,708 60,490

Disposals (1,022) (1,503) (745) (8) - (3,278)

Completions 18,147 45,559 - - (63,706) -

Transfer to other Fixed 
Assets

- - - - (2,523) (2,523)

Transfers to  work in 
progress

- - - - (16,753) (16,753)

At 31 March 2020 627,872 95,702 63,862 2,907 43,298 833,641

Depreciation:

At 1 April 2019 (25,013) (1,204) (19,941) (2,517) - (48,675)

Disposals 225 40 399 4 - 668

Charge for the year (5,303) (253) (1,695) (32) - (7,283)

At 31 March 2020 (30,091) (1,417) (21,237) (2,545) - (55,290)

Net book value:

At 31 March 2020 597,778 94,285 42,625 362 43,301 778,351

At 31 March 2019 580,393 50,442 44,274 349 71,572 747,030

      

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)

13. Tangible fixed assets – housing properties (cont.)
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Housing properties

Included within additions are development administration costs of the Group: £880k, Association: £880k (2019: 
Group: £260k, Association: £260k) and interest capitalised of the Group: £9,950k, Association: £2,240k (2019: 
Group: £6,410k Association: £2,491k).  The interest capitalisation was calculated using the Group's average cost of 
floating rate borrowing each month.  The average rate during the year was 4.08% (2019: 4.11%).

Planned repairs and maintenance expenditure, excluding the net £3.3m provision (2019: £3.4m) to replace ACM on 
two schemes (see note 20), on housing properties was for the Group: £10.6m, Association £10.6m (2019: Group: 
£9.7m, Association: £9.7m). £5.8m has also been capitalised (2019: £4.8m) for both Group and Association.

The £16.8m (2019: £4.3m) transfer to work in progress for the Group and Association includes movements to reflect 
changes in the tenure mix on development schemes under construction as well as additions and completions during 
the year.

All completed housing stock of the Group and Association was restated at deemed cost on transition for FRS102 
based on a formal valuation undertaken by Savills, Chartered Surveyors.  The deemed cost was based on the 
Existing Use Value for Social Housing (EUV-SH) for accounts purposes as at 31 March 2014.

Completed NHS Keyworker properties are carried at cost less depreciation.

During the current year the Group and Association did not make any impairment charges (2019: £nil). 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)

GROUP Freehold 
offices 

Leasehold 
Improve-

ments

Plant and 
machinery 

Computer 
equipment

Office 
equipment 

and 
fittings

Commer-
cial units

Total  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost: 

At 1 April 2019 3,427 678 1,699 1,437 1,427 - 8,668

Additions - 1 182 255 203 2,523 3,164

At 31 March 
2020

3,427 679 1,881 1,692 1,630 2,523 11,832

Depreciation:

At 1 April 2019 (257) (168) (302) (439) (556) - (1,722)

Charge for the 
year

(69) (136) (357) (369) (307) (31) (1,269)

At 31 March 
2020

(326) (304) (659) (808) (863) (31) (2,991)

Net book 
value:

At 31 March 
2020

3,101 375 1,222 884 767 2,492 8,841

At 31 March 
2019

3,169 510 1,397 999 871 - 6,946

      

14. Other tangible fixed assets 
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ASSOCIATION Freehold 
offices 

Computer 
equipment

Office 
equipment and 

fittings

Commercial 
units

Total  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost: 

At 1 April 2019 3,427 1,328 1,277 - 6,032

Additions - 249 202 2,523 2,974

At 31 March 2020 3,427 1,577 1,479 2,523 9,006

Depreciation:

At 1 April 2019 (257) (366) (519) - (1,142)

Charge for the year (69) (357) (276) (31) (733)

At 31 March 2020 (326) (723) (795) (31) (1,875)

Net book value:

At 31 March 2020 3,101 854 684 2,492 7,131

At 31 March 2019 3,170 962 758 - 4,890
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15. Investments 

GROUP 

Investment in jointly controlled entities

Equity share in 
joint ventures

Loans to joint 
ventures 

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Cost and net book value:

At 1 April 2019 5,521 14,405 19,926

Loan advances and capitalised loan interest - 3,665 3,665

Amortisation of goodwill (35) - (35)

Share of loss (9) - (9)

At 31 March 2020 5,478 18,070 23,548
      

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)

Management reviewed the carrying value of the investment in the jointly controlled entities as at 31 March 2020 and 
no triggers for impairment were identified.
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Group

The Group has an agreement to provide a junior loan 
facility of £4.5m and a £18.1m revolving credit facility to 
Purfleet Centre Regeneration Limited (PCRL). As at 31 
March 2020, the junior loan facility was fully drawn and  
£10.5m (2019: £7.2m) of the revolving credit facility was 
drawn. A further £1.1m of interest has been capitalised 
on the junior loan facility and £1.5m capitalised on the 
revolving credit facility during the year.

The revolving credit and junior loan facilities both 
accrue interest at 14.0579% and are repayable at the 
end of phase 1 of the development or 31 December 
2022, whichever is earlier. The loans are secured by a 
floating charge over the assets of PCRL.

Additionally, the Group will be providing construction 
and certain other administrative services to PCRL. 

The Group also has an agreement to provide a £15.0m 
junior loan facility to Porters Place Southend-on-Sea 
LLP. As at 31 March 2020 £0.75m of the junior loan was 
drawn with £2k interest paid.  The loan facility accrues 
interest at 2.4% and is repayable 12 months following 
completion of the final residential unit or 31 December 
2034, whichever is earlier.

Goodwill relating to PCRL is being amortised over the 
Directors’ estimate of its useful life of nine years, which 
is the expected duration of the regeneration project 
being undertaken by the joint venture.

GROUP 

Goodwill in joint venture 

 

£’000

Cost:

At 1 April 2019 303

At 31 March 2020 303

Amortisation:

At 1 April 2019 (48)

Charge for the year  (35)

At 31 March 2020 (81)

Net book value:

At 31 March 2020 222

At 31 March 2019 255
      

Joint venture net assets before shareholder loans as at 31 March:
2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

Current assets 29,236 20,624

Liabilities due within one year (956) (141)

Liabilities due after one year - -

Net Assets 28,279 20,483
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ASSOCIATION Shares in 
subsidiary 

undertakings 

Loans to 
subsidiary 

undertakings

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2019 12 65,000 65,012

Share issue 38 - 38

Advances to Group companies - 5,750 5,750

At 31 March 2020 50 70,750 70,800
      

During the year ended 31 March 2020 net advances of £5,750k were made to Group companies. As at 31 March 
2020, all loans to subsidiary undertakings are not due for repayment within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)

15. Investments (cont.)
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At 31 March 2020 the Group held 100% of the issued ordinary share capital of the following:

*Owned indirectly – 100% owned by Swan New Homes Limited

The jointly controlled entities are:

** 49.9% owned by Swan New Homes Limited

*** 50% partnership between Swan BQ Limited and Southend-on-Sea Borough Council

All of the Group's subsidiaries and the jointly controlled entities registered office is Pilgrim House, High Street, 
Billericay, Essex, England, CM12 9XY.

Company Activity Country of incorporation

Swan New Homes Limited Build of new homes England and Wales

Swan Commercial Services Limited Design and build contractor England and Wales

Hera Management Services Limited* Property management England and Wales

Vivo Support Limited* Care and support services England and Wales

Swan Housing Capital Plc Treasury England and Wales

Swan Housing Finance Limited Treasury England and Wales

Swan BQ Limited Regeneration Partner England and Wales

Company Activity Country of incorporation

Purfleet Centre Regeneration 
Limited**

Property development England and Wales

Porters Place Southend-on-Sea 
LLP***

Regeneration partnership England and Wales
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16. Stock and properties held for sale

Group Association  

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

Stock

Raw materials and consumables 870 633 - -

Shared ownership properties

Work in progress 24,067 22,466 24,067 22,466

Properties developed for outright sale

Completed properties - - - -

Work in progress 156,227 173,485 - -

181,164 196,584 24,067 22,466
      

During the year the Group and Association expensed as cost of sale costs related to properties held for sale and 
work in progress amounting to £123,529k (2019: £8,297k) and £14,778k (2019: £106k) respectively.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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17. Debtors

Group Association  

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

a) Due within one year

Gross arrears of rent and service charges 1,168 1,191 1,168 1,191

Less: provision for bad and doubtful debts (499) (637) (499) (637)

Net arrears of rent and service charges 669 554 669 554

Amounts owed by Group undertakings - - 5,907 4,570

Other debtors 9,476 5,419 5,285 3,731

Prepayments and accrued income 3,317 1,164 2,139 785

Deferred tax asset (see note 11) 29 34 - -

13,491 7,171 14,000 9,640

b) Due after one year

Other prepayments and accrued income – PFI 24,921 27,731 24,921 27,731

Equity retained in properties sold 1,000 1,372 - -

25,921 29,103 24,921 27,731
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18. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Group Association  

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

Bank loan 1,040 520 1,040 520

GLA & HCAi loans 29,125 29,125 - -

PFI loan 1,983 1,962 1,983 1,962

Trade creditors 14,750 14,591 3,908 3,234

Amounts owed to Group undertakings - - 12,377 685

Corporation Tax payable - 89 - -

Other taxation and social security 965 2,487 698 2,280

Other creditors 10,605 14,312 1,685 1,606

Deferred grant (see note 19) 602 534 602 534

Disposals proceeds fund 402 1,540 402 1,540

Interest payable 2,485 2,403 1,878 1,861

Accruals and deferred income 17,737 15,733 12,242 9,310

79,694 83,296 36,815 23,532
      

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)

Disposal proceeds fund will be utilised within the next 12 months as agreed with the local authority.
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19. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Group Association  

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

Bank loans (see analysis below) 340,880 317,341 340,880 317,341

Bond (see analysis below) 238,876 209,884 - -

GLA and HCAi loans (see analysis below) 73,081 57,480 - -

Amounts owed to Group undertakings - - 238,876 209,884

652,837 584,705 579,756 527,225

Finance leases 3,023 3,023 3,023 3,023

Recycled capital grant fund 1,237 4,023 1,237 4,023

Deferred grant (see analysis below) 117,281 110,450 104,613 97,782

774,378 702,201 688,629 632,053

Loans and Bond due after 1 year

Housing loans 180,528 169,568 180,528 169,568

Financial instruments at fair value 137,952 123,389 137,952 123,389

PFI Loan 22,400 24,384 22,400 24,384

Bond 235,000 210,000 - -

Less: issue costs (1,813) (1,789) - -

Add: bond discount and premium 5,689 1,673 - -

Amounts owed to Group undertakings - - 238,876 209,884

GLA and HCAi loans 73,473 57,912 - -

Less: issue costs (392) (432) - -

652,837 584,705 579,756 527,225
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Loans and Bond maturity (excluding PFI, GLA and HCAi which are considered separately)

Group Association  

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

Falling due less than one year 1,040 520 1,040 520

Falling due within one to two years 1,039 1,039 1,039 1,039

Falling due two to five years 63,658 51,138 63,658 51,138

Falling due after five years 413,331 389,891 413,331 389,775

479,068 442,588 479,068 442,472

Fair value adjustments for non basic financial 
instruments

75,451 60,889 75,451 60,889

554,519 503,477 554,519 503,361
      

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)

The bank loans above are drawn from bi-lateral loan facilities of £277m. Bank loans are secured by charges on 
specific properties and floating charges over the Group's assets and are repayable at variable and fixed rates of 
interest between 1.94% and 6.10%.  

On 5 March 2015 the Group issued a £250m bond with £100m retained and on 8 July 2016 £60m of the retained 
bonds were issued.  The bond has coupon rate of 3.625%, matures in 2048 and has a remaining life of 29 years.  
Security for the bond has been provided in the form of housing assets. 

The original £150m bond was issued at discount of £1.6m in 2015. The £60m retained bond issued in July 2016 
generated a £3.3m premium on issue. The £25m retained bond issued in March 2020 generated a £4m premium on 
issue. The discount and premiums are being amortised over the remaining life of the bond using the effective average 
interest rate method.

19. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (cont.)
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Group Association  

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

PFI loan:

Falling due less than one year 1,983 1,962 1,983 1,962

Falling due within one to two years 2,808 1,983 2,808 1,983

Falling due two to five years 9,014 8,313 9,014 8,313

Falling due after five years 10,579 14,088 10,579 14,088

24,384 26,346 24,384 26,346

      

The PFI loan is provided by Royal Bank of Scotland plc and repayable in full by 2028.  Interest is payable at 6.21% 
per annum for the remainder of the facility.

Group Association  

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

GLA and HCAi loans:

Falling due less than one year 29,125 29,125 - -

Falling due within one to two years - - - -

Falling due two to five years - - - -

Falling due after five years 73,081 57,912 - -

102,206 87,037 - -
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The Group has two housing zone loans provided by the Greater London Authority. The first, with a facility limit of 
£29.1m, relates to the Group's development at Cambridge Road, which was fully drawn at the end of the year. This 
facility carries interest at 3.29% per annum and is repayable on the earlier of receipts as they arise from the sale of 
development properties at Cambridge Road or 31 December 2020. 

The second facility, with a limit of £50m, relates to the Group's development at Blackwall Reach, which was fully 
drawn at the end of the year.  This facility carries interest at 4.0% per annum and is repayable on the earlier of 
receipts as they arise from the sale of development properties at Blackwall Reach or 31 December 2026. The two 
facilities are each secured by way of a fixed charge over the interest in the land at the related development site and 
by way of a floating charge over the assets of Swan New Homes Limited, a Group undertaking.

The HCAi facility, with a limit of £30m, relates to the Group's developments at Craylands and Laindon, under which 
£23m was drawn at the end of the year. This facility carries interest at EC Base Rate plus a margin of 4%. It is 
repayable on the earlier of the disposal of the last Residential Unit at the last site or 30 June 2025. In addition to the 
interest in the land and work in progress at the related development sites, Swan New Homes Limited and Swan 
Commercial Services Limited, both group undertakings, are guarantors for the facility. Homes England also hold a 
share charge in respect of the entire issued share capital of Swan Housing Finance Limited and Swan Commercial 
Services Limited.

Group Association  

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

Finance leases – falling due after five years 3,023 3,023 3,023 3,023
      

Finance leases represent the capital funding advanced under finance lease arrangements for a total of 35 
properties.  These entail the funder purchasing the freehold of properties on the open market and leasing them to 
Swan Housing Association Limited for 25 years from 2001.  Stratton Property Holdings Limited has a put option to 
sell the properties and Swan Housing Association Limited has a call option to purchase the properties at any time, 
both at historic cost, at which point the liability will be settled.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)

19. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (cont.)
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Group Association  

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

Analysis of Recycled Capital Grant Fund:

Balance at 1 April 4,023 3,264 4,023 3,264

Additions to the fund 491 739 491 739

Interest charges in the year - 20 - 20

Utilised during the year (3,277) - (3,277) -

Balance at 31 March 1,237 4,023 1,237 4,023

      

Group Association  

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

Analysis of Deferred Grant:

Balance at 1 April 110,984 51,645 98,316 38,977

Grant additions during the year 7,433 59,867 7,433 59,867

Released to income during the year (534) (528) (534) (528)

Balance at 31 March 117,883 110,984 105,215 98,316

Amounts to be released within one year 602 534 602 534

Amounts to be released in more than one year 117,281 110,450 104,613 97,782

117,883 110,984 105,215 98,316
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Group Association  

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

Aluminium Composite Material Provision:

Balance at 1 April 5,300 3,200 5,300 3,200

Released in the year (1,035) (1,175) (1,035) (1,175)

Provision recognised in the year 17,546 3,275 5,788 3,275

Balance at 31 March 21,811 5,300 10,053 5,300
      

20. Provision for liabilities

During the year ended 31 March 2019 the Association recognised a £5.3m provision in respect of estimated costs to 
replace cladding containing Aluminium Composite Material (‘ACM’) on two schemes. Confirmed grant funding of £1.9m 
was also accrued during the year ended 31 March 2019 which, taken together with the cost provision, resulted in a net 
liability of £3.4m.

During the year ended 31 March 2020 the Association has continued to progress the matter in accordance with its 
commitments and responsibilities as landlord. The following key points are noted:

• The scope of works for both schemes has increased during the year and revised cost estimates have been 
obtained. The scopes have been updated to maintain compliance with new building regulation guidelines which 
have been published following the Hackitt review.

• Further funding has been secured on both schemes and management remain committed to commencing the 
required remedial work on both buildings as soon as is practical in the current financial year.

£16.5m of additional funding has been secured during the year of which £15.9m has been received. When considered 
with the increase in provision to £21.8m results in a net liability of £3.3m as at 31 March 2020.

One of the schemes contains a mix of 44 social rented properties owned by the Association and 93 leasehold 
properties which are owned by Swan New Homes Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Association. The cost 
provision and funding secured for this scheme has been allocated between the Association and Swan New Homes 
Limited in proportion to the properties held by each entity.

The Association and Group remain intent on pursuing all available options to recover the cost of works required which 
may result in a more favourable position than currently reflected in the consolidated financial statements. A provisional 
allocation from the MHCLG private sector ACM fund has been secured during the year. The final outcome of these 
endeavours are inherently uncertain.

The risk in relation to other forms of cladding and revised building regulations continues to be monitored by 
management. However, at 31 March 2020 and to date there have been no legal or constructive obligations in relation 
to the rectification of such issues and no related provisions have been taken in these financial statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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21. Share capital and reserves – Group and Association

The shares have limited rights. They carry no entitlement to a dividend, are not repayable and do not carry rights to 
participate in a winding up. They carry an entitlement to vote at the annual and special meetings of the Association. When 
shares are cancelled the amount paid up becomes the property of the Association.

Income and expenditure reserve

The income and expenditure reserve includes all current and prior year retained surpluses and losses.

Revaluation reserve

On transition to FRS102 the revaluation reserve was credited with the difference between the fair value of housing 
properties and the historical cost carrying value. As a result, housing properties carried at revaluation pre transition are 
carried at deemed cost. 

22. Commitments

i)  Capital Commitments at the end of the financial year for which no provision has been made:

Share Capital 2020 
£

2019 
£

Outstanding at 1 April 6 6

Allocated during the year 1 2

Cancelled during the year (1) (2)

Shares of £1 each allotted issued and fully paid at 31 March 6 6
      

Group Association  

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

Contracted but not provided 212,820 283,462 108,554 134,375
      

Group Association  

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

Operating leases which expire:

Within one year 981 978 434 379

Between two and five years 3,127 3,282 1,204 1,128

Greater than five years 774 600 774 250

4,882 4,860 2,412 1,757
      

The Board considers that all expenditure will be financed through a combination of grants of £1.8m (2019: £6.0m), and 
sales income of £211.0m (2019: £277.5m).

ii) future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases for equipment, motor vehicles and buildings are 
as follows:
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23. Contingent liabilities

Performance bonds

Swan Housing Association Limited has issued performance bonds in respect of highway and other works which are 
part of development schemes in Basildon and Havering for £797,000 and £499,000 respectively, which may be 
retained by the local authorities in the event of works required under the construction programme not being 
completed.  At present the Association is expecting to complete these works satisfactorily.  The bonds expire at 
various dates, contingent upon practical completion of the works.

The Group, through its subsidiary Swan Commercial Services Limited, has entered into a Deed of Guarantee and 
Indemnity with Thurrock Borough Council in relation to a regeneration project in Purfleet, Essex. As at 31 March 
2020 there were no material obligations under this guarantee. 

Social Housing and other capital development grants may be repayable under certain circumstances, primarily 
following the sale of a property.

As the representative member of a VAT group, the Association has joint and several liability for amounts owing to 
HM Revenue & Customs which at 31 March 2020 were £266k (2019: £370k).

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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24. Analysis of completed property units

At 31 March 2020 the Group and Association housing stock comprised:

Group & Association  

Owned 
number of units 

Managed 
number of units 

2020 2019 2020 2019

Social housing:

General needs 6,556 6,524 - -

Affordable 337 302 - -

Shared ownership 830 586 - -

Sheltered (elderly) 79 79 - -

Other supported housing 415 415 - -

NHS keyworker accommodation 910 920 - -

London Borough of Newham - - 1,302 1,303

Total social housing 9,127 8,826 1,302 1,303

Non-social housing:

Garages 243 243 183 183

Sold to leaseholder with retained freehold 791 776 - -

Total housing stock 10,161 9,845 1,485 1,486
      
The total units owned and managed by the Group as at 31 March 2020 equates to 11,646 (2019: 11,331).  
The increase in the year relates to units developed less units sold.
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25. Legislative provisions

The Association is registered under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 with the reference 
28496R and with the Regulator of Social Housing under reference L4145 under the Housing and Regeneration Act 
2008 as a Registered Provider.

26. Related party disclosures

The Association provided a car purchase loan to one staff member in the prior year which was fully repaid in the year 
£Nil (2019: £9k).

The Association had the following activity with non-regulated entities in the Group:

• Swan New Homes Limited £(31,407)k net payment (2019: £(8,939)k net payment) land, property sales and fees, 
Swan Commercial Services Limited £(17,223)k net payment (2019: £(12,733)k net payment) construction 
activities and management fees which are recharged on an arm’s length basis using actual costs incurred and 
time allocations as appropriate. In addition, Swan New Homes Limited and Swan Commercial Services Limited 
made net drawdowns of £nil and £(5,000)k respectively from their intercompany loan facilities with the 
Association   

• Hera Management Services Limited £(39)k net payment (2019: £(36)k net payment) property management 
services and Vivo Support Limited £(1,376)k net payment (2019: £(1,013)k net payment) care services both are 
recharged on an arm’s length basis using actual costs incurred.

The Group has advanced funding under a revolving credit facility of £10.5m (2019: £7.2m) to its joint venture with 
PCRL. At 31 March 2020 funding receivable, including interest accrued, from PCRL amounted to £20.5m (2019: 
£14.4m). Interest receivable in the year amounted to £2.5m (2019: £1.8m). Management fees charged to PCRL, 
which are included in turnover, amounted to £360k (2019: £360k).

In addition, the Group has advanced funding under a junior loan facility to Porters Place Southend-on-Sea LLP, a 
partnership in which the Group holds a 50% interest through Swan BQ Limited. As at 31 March 2020 £0.75m of the 
junior loan facility was drawn with £2k interest paid.

27. Subsidiaries

Swan Housing Association Limited provides staff and other services to its subsidiaries under the terms of procedure 
agreements.  Details of the amount charged to the subsidiaries within the Group are as follows: 

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

Amount charged:

Swan Commercial Services Limited 422 345

Swan New Homes Limited 1,905 1,267

Vivo Support Limited 16 14

Hera Management Services Limited 16 14

2,359 1,640
      

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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28. Pensions 

SCHEME: TPT Retirement Solutions – Social Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS)

The Association participates in SHPS, a multi-employer scheme which provides benefits to non-associated 
participating employers. The scheme is a defined benefit pension scheme in the UK.  The scheme is classified as a 
'last-man standing arrangement'. Therefore, the Association is potentially liable for other participating employers' 
obligations if those employers are unable to meet their share of the scheme deficit following withdrawal from the 
scheme. Participating employers are legally required to meet their share of the scheme deficit on an annuity 
purchase basis on withdrawal from the scheme.

On 1 April 2018, sufficient information became available for the Association in respect of SHPS to account for its 
obligation on a defined benefit basis. This change on transition resulted in a re-measurement difference of £2,183k, 
which was recognised at the relevant date of application, on 1 April 2018, in other comprehensive income, was 
therefore reflected in the year ended 31 March 2019. 

The most recent formal actuarial valuation was completed as at 30 September 2017 and rolled forward, allowing for 
the different financial assumptions required under FRS102, to 31 March 2020 by a qualified independent actuary.

The net defined benefit liability at the year ended 31 March 2020 is £3,230k (2019: £6,948k).

PRESENT VALUES OF DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION, FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND DEFINED BENEFIT 
LIABILITY

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

Fair value of plan assets 19,242 18,547

Present value of defined benefit obligation   (22,472) (25,495)

Defined benefit liability to be recognised (3,230) (6,948)
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28. Pensions (cont.)

RECONCILIATION OF OPENING AND CLOSING BALANCES OF THE DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION 2020 
£’000

Defined benefit obligation at the start of the year 25,495

Expenses 23

Interest expense 605

Actuarial (gains) due to scheme experience 378

Actuarial losses due to changes in demographic assumptions (216)

Actuarial losses due to changes in financial assumptions (3,530)

Benefits paid and expenses (283)

Defined benefit obligation at the end of the year 22,472
      

RECONCILIATION OF OPENING AND CLOSING BALANCES OF THE FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS

2020 
£’000

Fair value of plan assets at the start of the year 18,547

Interest income 447

Experience on plan assets (excluding amounts included in interest income) – gain (loss) (158)

Contributions by the employer 689

Benefits paid and expenses (283)

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year 19,242
      

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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DEFINED BENEFIT COSTS RECOGNISED IN STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (SOCI)

2020 
£’000

Expenses 23

Net interest 158

Defined benefit costs recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income (SOCI) 181
      

DEFINED BENEFIT COSTS RECOGNISED IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

2020 
£’000

Experience on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest cost) – gain (loss) (158)

Experience gains and losses arising on the plan liabilities – gain (loss) (378)

Effects of changes in the demographic assumptions underlying the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation – gain (loss)

216

Effects of changes in the financial assumptions underlying the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation – gain (loss)

3,530

Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income - gain (loss) 3,210
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28. Pensions (cont.)

ASSETS 31 March 
2020 
£’000

1 April 
2019 
£’000

Global Equity 2,814 3,121

Absolute Return 1,003 1,605

Distressed Opportunities 371 337

Credit Relative Value 528 339

Alternative Risk Premia 1,345 1,070

Fund of Hedge Funds 11 84

Emerging Markets Debt 583 640

Risk Sharing 650 560

Insurance-Linked Securities 591 532

Property 424 417

Infrastructure 1,432 973

Private Debt 388 249

Opportunistic IIIiquid Credit 466 -

Corporate Bond Fund 1,097 865

Liquid Credit 8 -

Long Lease Property 333 273

Secured Income 730 664

Liability Driven Investment 6,386 6,782

Net Current Assets 82 36

Total assets 19,242 18,547
      

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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KEY ASSUMPTIONS

31 March 
2020 

% per 
annum 

1 April 
2019 

% per 
annum

Discount Rate 2.34% 2.38%

Inflation (RPI) 2.53% 3.23%

Inflation (CPI) 1.53% 2.23%

Salary Growth 2.53% 3.23%

Allowance for commutation of pension for cash at retirement 75% of 
maximum 
allowance

75% of 
maximum 
allowance

      

The mortality assumptions adopted at 31 March 2020 imply the following life expectancies:

Life expectancy at 
age 65 

(years )

Male retiring in 2020 21.5

Female retiring in 2020 23.3

Male retiring in 2040 22.9

Female retiring in 2040 24.5
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29. Financial assets and liabilities

Our treasury's strategy is explained in the Strategic Report and includes our approach to interest rate and 
counterparty risk management (see pages 36 and 37). Liquidity is a key risk which is managed using well 
established cash forecasting and business planning process which are regularly stress tested using single and multi 
variate scenarios (see page 37). 

Financial assets

Other than short term debtors, financial assets held are investments in other entities and cash deposits placed on 
call. £1,326k (2019: £1,126k) of the cash balance relates to sinking funds.  Financial assets are sterling denominated 
and the interest rate profile at 31 March was:

Group Association  

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

Floating rate 119,298 43,837 128,960 93,047
      

The assets attract interest rates that vary with bank rates. 

Financial liabilities excluding trade creditors – interest rate risk profile

The Group's financial liabilities are sterling denominated.  After taking into account various interest rate swaps, the 
interest rate profile of the Group's financial liabilities at 31 March was:

Group Association  

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

Floating rate 116,815 80,286 70,914 70,088

Fixed 488,509 475,685 409,384 398,730

Total 605,324 555,971 480,298 468,818
      

The floating rate financial liabilities comprise bank loans that bear interest at rates based on the three-month LIBOR.

The fixed rate financial liabilities have a weighted average interest rate of 4.45% (2019: 4.70%) and the weighted 
average period for which it is fixed is 19 years (2019: 16 years).

The debt maturity profile is shown in note 19.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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Borrowing facilities

The Group has undrawn committed borrowing facilities.  The facilities available at 31 March in respect of which all 
conditions precedent had been met were as follows:

Group Association  

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

Expiring in less than 2 years 18,000 64,806 18,000 45,000

Expiring in more than 2 years 22,253 2,286 15,000 -
      

In addition to the above, the Group has £15m of retained bonds which are available for issue subject to the 
appropriate security being available. The expiry date of the retained bonds was removed in March 2020.
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Group Association

Book value Fair value Book value Fair value

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

Primary financial 
instruments held 
or issued to 
finance the 
Group's 
operations

Current asset trade 
investments

 119,298 43,837 119,298 43,837 128,960 93,047 128,960 93,047

Current portion of 
long term 
borrowing at 
amortised cost

32,148 31,607 32,217 31,673 3,023 2,482 3,092 2,548

Long term 
borrowings at fair 
value through 
statement of 
comprehensive 
income 

137,952 123,389 137,952 123,389 137,952 123,389 137,952 123,389

Long term 
borrowings at 
amortised cost

482,591 461,864 640,773 562,239 409,844 403,836 538,901 475,206

      

The fair value of long-term borrowings includes the mark to market position of the embedded interest rate swaps. 
There is no requirement to post collateral against the out of the money mark to market positions.  

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)

29. Financial assets and liabilities (cont.)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities



30. Prior year adjustment - reconciliation of previous reported figures 

Following the Triennial review of FRS102 for periods commencing on or after 1 January 2019, adjustments are 
required to reflect an amended treatment of the tax relief associated with gift aid payments by a company to its 
parent charity and to report surpluses on the sale of fixed assets within operating surplus.

Tax relief associated with gift aid payments

The prior year has been restated to recognise through the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income the 
tax benefit, in that year, of a gift aid payment to the ultimate parent charity under the gift aid scheme in the nine 
months ended 31 December 2019. The likelihood of payment of that donation was probable as at 31 March 2019, 
but there was no obligation for payment as at 31 March 2019, consequently that gift aid donation itself was not 
otherwise recognised in the financial statements of the prior year. 

The prior year results have been restated to reflect the position had the policy always been applied. The table below 
reports the adjustments required for each financial statement line affected by the change. The adjustments in 
relation to the tax relief associated with gift aid payments have no impact on the Association’s financial statements, 
only on the Group's. 

Gain or loss on the sale of fixed assets

The changes to the gain or loss on the sale of fixed assets has been represented to within operating surplus in the 
Association's Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, however, total comprehensive income for the 
restated year is not impacted in the Association or Group.

 
£’000

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

Original tax on surplus on ordinary activities (805)

Reduction in 2019 corporation tax charge due to gift aid payment 839

Restated tax on surplus on ordinary activities 34

Original surplus on ordinary activities after tax for the year 31 March 2019           5,681     

Reduction in 2019 corporation tax charge due to probable gift aid payment  839

Restated consolidated surplus on ordinary activities for the year 31 March 2019             6,520   
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£’000

Restatement of consolidated net assets and reserves

Original consolidated net assets and reserves as at 31 March 2018 227,091

Reduction in 2018 corporation tax charge due to probable gift aid payment 1,048

Restated consolidated net assets and reserves as at 31 March 2018 228,139

Original consolidated net assets and reserves as at 31 March 2019     233,820        

Reduction in 2019 corporation tax charge due to probable gift aid payment 839

Restated net assets and reserves as at 31 March 2019 234,659

Restatement of equity

Restated consolidated net assets and reserves as at 31 March 2018 228,139

Restated total comprehensive income for the year prior 6,520

Restated net assets and reserves as at 31 March 2019      234,659       
      

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)

31. Post balance sheet event

On 8 July 2020 a crane collapsed at our Watts Grove construction site in the London Borough of Tower Hamlets. 
The incident resulted in the tragic loss of a life for which our deepest condolences have been extended to the family, 
the serious injury of two crane operatives and has caused a number of local residents to have to leave their homes 
until the crane is removed and the surrounding area made safe.  

Currently the incident site and surrounding area remains in the control of the police and we are fully supporting the 
authorities and the Health and Safety Executive with their investigation into how the incident occurred. At this stage 
of the investigation there is insufficient information to estimate the financial impact of the incident.

30. Prior year adjustment - reconciliation of previous reported figures (cont.)





somewhere to feel at home


